Post-translational Modifications of Newly Synthesized Histones H3 and the Role of H3 K56 Acetylation on Chromatin Assembly in Mammalian Cells

Author: Silvia K. Tacheva

Persistent link: http://hdl.handle.net/2345/1745

This work is posted on eScholarship@BC, Boston College University Libraries.

Boston College Electronic Thesis or Dissertation, 2010

Copyright is held by the author, with all rights reserved, unless otherwise noted.

Boston College

The Graduate School of Arts and Sciences

Department of Biology

POST-TRANSLATIONAL MODIFICATIONS OF NEWLY SYNTHESIZED HISTONES H3 AND THE ROLE OF H3 K56 ACETYLATION ON CHROMATIN ASSEMBLY IN MAMMALIAN CELLS

a thesis

by

SILVIA K. TACHEVA

submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements

for the degree of

Master of Science

December 2010

© copyright by SILVIA K. TACHEVA 2010

POST-TRANSLATIONAL MODIFICATIONS OF NEWLY SYNTHESIZED HISTONES H3 AND THE ROLE OF H3 K56 ACETYLATION ON CHROMATIN ASSEMBLY IN MAMMALIAN CELLS

by Silvia K. Tacheva Advisor: Anthony T. Annunziato

<u>Abstract</u>

The project I am presenting aimed to: 1. Elucidate the pattern of posttranslational modification on the different variants of newly synthesized histones H3 in mammalian cells; 2. Reveal whether the acetylation of residue K56 on newly synthesized H3 histones plays a role in the incorporation of the histone into chromatin in mammalian cells; and 3. Determine whether the acetylation of residue K56 on newly synthesized H3 histones plays a role in the incorporation of the histone specifically in replicating chromatin in mammalian cells. The experiments to answer these questions were performed using HEK293 cells with inducible expression of FLAG-histones, enabling us to control the synthesis of new histones of interest and to detect and analyze their presence and relative levels in the cells. The results suggest that the acetylation of lysine 56 on histone H3 may play a positive role in the incorporation of the histone into new chromatin, and lack of acetylation may be reducing the efficiency of incorporation compared to acetylated histones.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

<u>Advisor:</u> Dr. Anthony T. Annunziato

<u>Committee Members:</u> Dr. Charles Hoffman Dr. Junona Moroianu

Lab Mentors: Dr. Cheryl Doughty Dr. Kevin Tong Inna Grishkan

Flow Cytometry Assistance: Dr. Thomas Chiles Fay Dufort

> Support and Advice: Dr. Manal Alaamery Arleide Lee Maria Janessian

<u>Family</u> Lubka Tacheva Kosta Tachev Veronika Tacheva Venelin Grigorov

Boston College Biology Department

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Introduction	1
1. Chromatin	1
2. Histone H3 Variants	2
3. CAF-1 and HIRA Chromatin Assembly Factors	3
4. Asf1 Histone Chaperone	6
5. Post-translational Modifications	9
6. H3 K56	12
7. Rtt109 HAT	16
8. H3 K56 HDACs	17
9. Specific Aims	19
Materials and Methods	20
Reagents	20
Methods	21
Results and Discussion	35
Part I: Post-translational Modification of	
Newly Synthesized Histones H3.1 and H3.3	35
Part II: FLAG-H3.1 S-phase assembly and	
the effect of K56 acetylation.	
Part III: H3 K56 assembly on newly synthesized DNA	43
Figures	49
References	59
 6. H3 K56 7. Rtt109 HAT 8. H3 K56 HDACs 9. Specific Aims Materials and Methods Reagents Methods Results and Discussion Part I: Post-translational Modification of Newly Synthesized Histones H3.1 and H3.3 Part II: FLAG-H3.1 S-phase assembly and the effect of K56 acetylation. Part III: H3 K56 assembly on newly synthesized DNA Figures. References.	

1. Chromatin

In eukaryotes, DNA is packaged around proteins to form a compact, organized, yet dynamic structure called chromatin. The basic unit of chromatin is the nucleosome, consisting of an octamer of four types of histories (two of each): H2A, H2B, H3, and H4 (1). Each of these histones contains a globular histone fold domain, and an N-terminal tail extending out away from the fold domain. The globular region is made up of three alpha-helices, separated by two loops, which are involved in intranucleosomal interactions between the histories. Within the nucleosome, histones are arranged in a tetramer of two H3/H4 heterodimers, held together by α -helix interactions between the two H3 molecules, and two H2A/H2B heterodimers interacting between the H2B and H4 molecules. Approximately 147 bp of DNA are wrapped around the nucleosome core 1.8 times (1-3). The globular domains of the histone proteins forms electrostatic interactions with the surrounding DNA, and the N-terminal tails of histones protrude out of the nucleosome core and interact with nearby nucleosomes to form higher-order chromatin folding (1, 4). This structure functions predominantly to condense the DNA. By interactions among the histones within different nucleosomes, the structure of chromatin can become more condensed, preventing DNA binding proteins from acting on the given region of DNA. Alternatively, fewer interactions between nucleosomes can result in more relaxed chromatin, allowing regulatory factors to come in contact with the DNA. The

nucleosome density is one important factor in such internucleosomal interactions, and it varies in different regions of chromatin, depending on the need for local activity at a given time of the cell cycle or during given conditions, such as DNA replication in S-phase, gene transcription, and double stranded break repair (5-10). During replication, nucleosomes are disrupted by helicases in order to allow the replication machinery full access to the DNA (11, 12). Behind the replication fork, nucleosomes are reassembled on both sides of the fork, and both preexisting and newly synthesized histones are incorporated into chromatin (13-15).

During replication, newly synthesized histones are directly deposited onto DNA (16, 17). This deposition is mediated by histone chaperones and controlled by nucleosome assembly factors (18, 19). The mechanism of de novo nucleosome assembly involves the deposition of two H3/H4 dimers onto DNA to form a tetramer, followed by the addition of two H2A/H2B dimers to complete the histone octamer (1, 16, 18-24).

2. Histone H3 Variants

Higher eukaryotes have four evolutionarily conserved histone H3 variants: the replication-coupled H3.1 and H3.2, the replication-independent H3.3, and the centromere-specific CENP-A (25, 26). Histones H3.1 and H3.3 differ in sequence at only four amino acid residues, three of which have been found responsible for

the difference in deposition. Changing these sequences on H3.1 to match those of H3.3 results in the replication-independent deposition of H3.1 (26-29). The replication-coupled H3.1 is expressed only during S-phase, while the replicationindependent H3.3 is expressed at basal levels throughout the entire cell cycle (30-34). It is incorporated into chromatin during transcription and following DNA repair. Enrichment of H3.3 is particularly observed in transcriptionally active genes and in the gene promoters of both active and repressed genes, as well as in telomeric repeats (29, 34-38). However, it is not found in satellite DNA and Ychromosomal repeat DNA. Changing the amino acid sequence of histone H3.3 alters its genome enrichment to a pattern more similar to that of H3.1. Incorporation of H3.3 inside the body of the gene correlates with transcriptional activity; in transcriptionally repressed genes, H3.3 is only found in the promoter region, and not in the body of the gene (29). In embryonic stem cells, pluripotency genes incorporate histone H3.3, and it is lost upon differentiation, when these genes are no longer expressed, but housekeeping genes continue to incorporate H3.3 even after differentiation, correlating with their continuous activity.

3. CAF-1 and HIRA Chromatin Assembly Factors

Histone chaperones and chromatin assembly factors are important in regulating the nucleosome assembly and eviction (18, 39-41). The main protein that

mediates the incorporation of H3/H4 during replication-coupled assembly is CAF-1 (22, 42-46). CAF-1 consists of three subunits, called Cac1, Cac2, and Cac3 in yeast, or p150, p60, and p48 in *Drosophila* and human cells (46). During DNA synthesis, CAF-1 interacts directly with PCNA, a DNA polymerase processivity factor, targeting histones to be deposited at the site of replication (41, 47, 48). CAF-1 also mediates nucleotide excision repair-coupled and ssDNA break repair-coupled nucleosome assembly outside of S-phase (49-53).

CAF-1 is important for heterochromatin maintenance, and mutating it impairs gene silencing of telomeres; however telomeres still incorporate nucleosomes even in the absence of CAF-1 (45, 54-56). In yeast, CAF-1 is not essential for viability, though *cac1* deletion mutants are slightly sensitive to genotoxic stress, such as UV radiation (45, 54, 57). Loss of CAF-1 also increases sensitivity to DNases, indicating a decrease in the efficiency of nucleosome assembly in the absence of the protein (58).

Like other chromatin assembly factors, the p60 and p48 subunits of CAF-1 contain seven WD repeats (45, 59-63). These are 4-10 amino acid repeats ending in pairs of Trp-Asp (WD) residues, and are highly conserved in eukaryotes, but not found in prokaryotes. They are involved in protein-protein interactions, mediating signal transduction, RNA processing, gene expression, vesicular trafficking, and cell division (63-65). The presence of WD repeats

results in a propeller structure forming 4-10 internal beta-strands each ending in a WD pair, and these structures are specialized loops where protein interactions take place (63, 67-69).

The nucleosome assembly factor involved with replication-independent nucleosome assembly is called Hir in yeast, and HIRA in humans (24, 29, 41, 70). HIRA specifically binds and mediates H3.3 incorporation into chromatin, in association with the chromatin remodeling factor CHD1 (70-74). HIRA is required for transcriptional regulation in *Drosophila*, and is responsible for H3.3 deposition at both active and repressed genes, but not on transcription factor binding sites and telomeres, where the H3.3 incorporation is not dependent on HIRA but on other factors (29, 75-78). The normal H3.3 enrichment pattern, including transcription start sites and house keeping genes, is not observed in cells lacking HIRA. Depletion of HIRA prevents replication-independent histone deposition, but not nucleotide excision repair-coupled nucleosome assembly (70).

HIRA contains seven WD-repeat sequences, which share 27% identity with the CAF-1 WD region (59, 61, 62, 70). The protein is phosphorylated in a temporal manner throughout the cell cycle (79, 80). Yeast Hir1 and Hir2 repress transcription of H2A and H2B genes during most of the cell cycle, and recruit SWI/SNF nucleosome remodeling complex at the G1/S boundary, allowing H2A

and H2B transcription (81-84). HIRA has overlapping function with CAF-1 in telomeric and mating type silencing (59).

Both CAF-1 and HIRA bind H3/H4 directly (85, 86) and require histone chaperone Asf1 (Anti-silencing factor 1) for most efficient nucleosome assembly, in yeast, *Drosophila*, and human cells (57, 87). In yeast, Hir proteins associate with Asf1 to promote silencing (88).

4. Asf1 Histone Chaperone

Asf1 is a histone chaperone involved in both replication-coupled and replicationindependent nucleosome assembly (49, 57, 58, 88-92). In mammals, there are two proteins, Asf1a and Asf1b, that share 71% homology and whose function is highly redundant (92-94). The N-terminal end of Asf1 consists of 155 extremely highly conserved residues, arranged in defined secondary structures. This is the functional part of the protein, involved in protein-protein interactions with H3/H4 dimers as well as other chromatin assembly factors (91, 95). The C-terminal end is highly acidic, but not as well conserved and has an undefined, random coiled structure. It is not functionally essential, but is thought to stabilize interactions with proteins bound to Asf1 (95). *Drosophila* and human Asf1 lack the acidic Cterminal tail, but instead the histone chaperone is phosphorylated in a replicationdependent manner (94). The protein has a conserved concave hydrophobic groove, flanked by electronegative acidic surface (95). This site is thought to be the histone binding site.

Asf1 is highly important in histone deposition, as histones that are not able to bind to Asf1 are not deposited onto chromatin (96). In yeast, *Drosophila* and humans, when bound to H3/H4, Asf1 directly binds the Cac2/p60 subunit of CAF-1 and mediates histone deposition (49, 57, 97, 98). Similarly, Asf1 binds to HIRA directly, mediating replication-independent/transcription-coupled nucleosome assembly (59, 70, 79, 88, 95, 99, 100). Asf1 does not tightly associate with chromatin, indicating that it has a transient role in escorting the histones to the correct location (49).

Aside from replication- and transcription-coupled assembly, Asf1 has been implicated in escorting histones to sites of DNA damage repair for incorporation post-repair (49). Asf1 interacts directly with cell cycle checkpoint kinase Rad53, mediating nucleosome assembly following DNA damage (101-103). CAF-1 is essential for Asf1-mediated nucleosome assembly following nucleotide excision repair, but independent of repair, Asf1 alone in high concentrations can also deposit histones onto chromatin (49, 92).

Yeast Asf1 has also been shown to mediate chromatin disassembly, and there has been evidence supporting a role of Asf1 in recycling histones as H3/H4

dimers (11, 93, 104). Binding of Asf1 to H3/H4 dimers prevents [H3/H4]₂ tetramer formation (105). Asf1 recruited to chromatin binds H3/H4 dimers, disrupting the tetramer and removing the nucleosomes from the DNA (106). Asf1 interaction with helicases is essential for replication fork progression (13, 93, 106). This indicates another role for Asf1 in DNA replication by removing nucleosomes before the replication fork.

Overexpression of Asf1 interferes with telomeric silencing and mating type silencing in yeast (57, 107-109). Loss of Asf1 in yeast decreases sensitivity to DNases due to increase in nucleosome density and chromatin compaction in the absence of the protein. This further supports Asf1's activity in disassembly of nucleosomes. In addition, Asf1 interacts with transcription factor TFIID and chromatin remodeling enzyme Brahma, possibly mediating the removal of nucleosomes from transcriptionally active sites (110-112). Deletion of Asf1 results in high sensitivity to genotoxic stress, increases doubling time and cell cycle progression, and also alters histone gene expression (57, 99, 107).

Asf1 binding to newly synthesized H3/H4 is important in mediating some posttranslational modifications specific to new histones. Asf1 itself has no acetyltransferase activity, but it transports histones in close proximity and favorable orientation to HATs (95). It has been shown to be important for the acetylation and methylation of H3 K9, as deletion of Asf1 reduces the abundance

of this modification (58, 93). Asf1 is also absolutely essential for the acetylation of H3 K56 by Rtt109 (to be discussed in detail below) (9, 113-116).

5. Post-translational Modifications

Histones are most often post-translationally modified on their N-terminal tails, which protrude out of the nucleosome core and are accessible for interactions with histone modifying proteins (1, 4, 66). Such modifications include acetylation, methylation, phosphorylation, ubiquitination, sumoylation, and ribosylation and occur at lysine, arginine, serine, and threonine residues (66, 73). The pattern of modifications is responsible for regulating chromatin structure and activity, not directly, but by recruiting and interacting with regulatory proteins that recognize the specific modifications (117-119). Such proteins contain domains that read the pattern and bind to the histone carrying it: chromodomains bind methylated lysine residues, bromodomains bind acetylated lysine residues. Proteins containing bromodomains generally recognize a range of acetylated lysines, while chromodomains show greater specificity in recognizing a given methylation pattern. The HP1 chromodomain only binds dimethylated H3 K9, while the Polycomb chromodomain binds dimethylated H3 K27 (66). The chromatin remodeling complex SWI/SNF has a bromodomain, and binds acetylated histone N-tails to destabilize the nucleosome (7).

Specific post-translational modification patterns are correlated with particular chromatin activities. It is important to note that these patterns of modification can have differential effects based on the cellular context (66). For example, the combination of H4 K8 acetylation + H3 K14 acetylation + H3 S10 phosphorylation has been linked to transcription, while H3 K9 trimethylation + H3 and H4 un-acetylation represses transcription. In addition, H4 K5,8,12 acetylation is involved in histone deposition of newly synthesized histones, a modification that is evolutionarily conserved (66, 120). Centromeric histone H3 variant CENP-A differs from canonical H3 in residues that would normally be phosphorylated and acetylated in other H3 variants (41, 66). The lack of these residues is associated with the maintenance of chromatin condensation in regions incorporating CENP-A. Another mark of chromatin condensation, particularly during mitosis, is H2A S1, T119 phosphorylation + H3 T3, S10,28 phosphorylation.

A number of histone modifying enzymes are responsible for the post-translational modifications on histones throughout the cell cycle. These include histone acetyltransferases (HATs), which acetylate lysine and arginine residues, histone methyltransferases (HMTs), which methylate lysine and arginine residues, and histone kinases, which phosphorylate serine and threonine residues (66). Some histone modification enzymes interact with DNA regulatory proteins, targeting their activity to specific locations on chromatin. For example, ATM is a DNA damage checkpoint kinase, which is recruited to and activated at sites of dsDNA

breaks, phosphorylates histone H2A at these sites (66, 121).

While some modifications are involved in recruitment of regulatory proteins, others are important for regulating the modifications of other residues. Methylation of H4 R3 promotes H4 K5,8,12 acetylation (66). Subsequently, acetylation of H4,5,18 promotes H3 R2,17,26 methylation. Phosphorylation of H3 S10 inhibits methylation of H3 K9.

Histone acetylation is particularly interesting, as it has been shown to regulate a wide range of processes, including DNA replication, chromatin assembly, chromosome condensation, transcription, DNA repair (66, 117, 118, 122-125). New histones H3 are acetylated on various residues, promoting their interaction with chromatin assembly factors for incorporation into chromatin (94, 126-129). Acetylation of new histones H3 and H4 is important for nucleosome assembly, and preventing acetylation, such as by deletion of the H3 and H4 N-tails, results in decreased nucleosome density and loss of viability (41, 130, 131). This importance is further supported by the redundancy in function of acetylating the H3 and H4 tails: in yeast, acetylation of H4 K8 is sufficient to make up for the lack of acetylation on H3 due to N-tail deletion (41, 129, 131). Di-acetylation of H4 K5,12 in newly synthesized histones is highly evolutionarily conserved, and has been implicated in nucleosome assembly (66, 93, 120, 132).

Another modification, acetylation at K56 of histone H3, is also found on newly synthesized histones H3, and will be discussed in greater detail later (10, 133). Many post-translational modifications found on new histones are removed following their incorporation into chromatin (21, 134). Fewer PTMs are observed in histones outside of S-phase (135). In addition, pericentric heterochromatin contains no acetylation at H4 histones, supporting the fact that acetylation is involved in active chromatin (86, 136). Lack of deacetylation of pericentric H4 interferes with kinetochore function and chromosome segregation (134). Ultimately, the balance of HAT and HDAC activity is critical for the proper regulation of chromatin activity.

6. H3 K56

The lysine 56 residue of histone H3 is located within the globular domain of the histone, at the point where DNA enters and exits the nucleosome. (10, 137,138). This residue makes direct contact with the phosphate backbone of the surrounding DNA (116, 139). Because of its prominent location within the nucleosome, extensive studies have been done to determine if this lysine and its acetylation are structurally significant for the nucleosome itself as well as for chromatin in general (140-142). It has been hypothesized that this modification destabilizes the nucleosome, resulting in a number of downstream events, further discussed shortly. Studies have determined that acetylation of H3 K56 has no

effect on the formation or stability of the nucleosome (140). Chromatin fiber compaction is also not affected significantly by the modification of this residue (140, 141). However, acetylation of this lysine does weaken interaction with DNA at that point, resulting in localized "DNA breathing" (10, 116, 140). Thus, other, more complex mechanisms must be involved in the downstream events involving this modification.

In yeast cells, H3 K56 is abundantly acetylated in a cell-cycle dependent manner (133, 143-147). The modification occurs only on newly synthesized histones during S-phase, and is removed shortly after incorporation of the histones into chromatin (10, 147-149). Removal of the modification is important for genome stability (148, 149). However, complete lack of the modification also results in sensitivity to genotoxic agents (10). The same modification occurs in *Drosophila*, *Tetrahymena* and low, but significant levels are also observed in mammalian cells (5, 9, 125, 144, 145, 150). However, unlike in yeast, H3 K56ac is detected throughout the entire cell cycle in both *Drosophila* and mammals. In yeast and human cells, the modification has been found to be gene-specific, and is particularly prevalent at histone gene promoters (125). The modification occurs on all histone H3 variants (6, 125, 151).

Acetylation of H3 K56 has implicated roles in replication, DNA repair, transcriptional regulation, homologous recombination, as well as chromatin

assembly (5, 6, 7, 9, 10, 90, 113, 115, 116, 125, 137, 138, 146-148, 152-156). Histone chaperone Asf1 is required for the acetylation of H3 K56, and the modification is not detected in *asf1* deletion mutants (114, 116, 146, 149, 157, 158). Asf1 binds the H3/H4 heterodimer at the C-terminus of H3, a site away from the K56 residue, allowing it to be in solution and accessible to HATs and other proteins (150, 159). Histones deposited by CAF-1 are acetylated at K56, and CAF-1 binding to chromatin is enhanced by the presence of the modification on CAF-1-bound H3 (10, 115). CAF-1 binds H3 K56 directly via its Cac1 subunit. Acetylation of H3 K56 does not affect binding of H3/H4 to Asf1, but it directly affects the binding affinity with CAF-1 (115). These facts support the role of H3 K56 acetylation in replication-coupled nucleosome assembly in yeast.

In yeast, H3 K56 acetylation is shown to have a critical role in packaging DNA into chromatin following DNA replication and repair (5, 10, 113, 115, 116, 146, 147, 155, 160). In *Drosophila* and HeLa cells, acetylation of H3 K56 increases with an increase in DNA damage, and it has been shown in human cells to colocalize with the DNA-damage specific histone variant H2AXp (9). In yeast, K56 acetylation is not removed post-assembly at sites of DNA damage, and this delay of deacetylation promotes DNA repair (10). The modification regulates reassembly of nucleosomes after DSB repair and is necessary for the completion of repair (5). The fact that *asf1* deletion mutants and *asf1 cac1* double deletion mutants are highly sensitive to genotoxic stress supports the involvement of H3

K56 in DNA repair (57).

Increased levels of H3 K56 acetylation have also been correlated with tumorigenicity, as well as pluripotency! (9, 125, 160). H3 K56 has been defined as marker for the epigenetic difference between pluripotent and differentiated cells (125). In *Drosophila*, the chaperone responsible for mediating the acetylation of H3 K56, Asf1, is highly abundant in embryos and less so in adults, suggesting that the modification is also found at higher levels in undifferentiated cells and indicating evolutionary conservation of H3 K56 as a pluripotency marker (57). In human embryonic stem cells, canonical histone gene promoters contain H3 K56ac, while variant histone genes do not. In differentiated cells, variant histone gene promoters also contain the modification, while the levels detected in the canonical histone genes are reduced.

H3 K56 acetylation is observed in the promoter regions of histone genes and genes involved in core transcriptional network (90, 125, 154). In yeast, H3 K56 acetylation occurs prior to the expression of histone genes, and the presence of the modification in histone gene promoters is absolutely necessary for the transcription of the histone genes (7). This correlates with the observed effect of Asf1 on expression of histone genes (93). Consistent with the implicated role in transcriptional regulation, the modification has been shown to be essential to the recruitment of chromatin remodeling factor SWI/SNF (7). A hypothesized model

suggests that in yeast, acetylation of H3 K56 in histone gene promoters recruits SWI/SNF to the promoter. SWI/SNF destabilizes the nucleosome and activates gene transcription (7).

7. Rtt109 HAT

An important histone acetyltransferase that has been implicated in acetylating H3 K56 on newly synthesized histones is the yeast Rtt109 (116). It shares structural homology to the mammalian HAT p300 (146, 147, 161-168). Binding to histone chaperones (Asf1 or Vps75) is essential for the HAT function of Rtt109 (116, 146, 147, 169). Histone chaperone Asf1 is required for H3 K56 acetylation of nascent H3 by Rtt109 (113-116, 146). Asf1 escorts the histone in close proximity to the HAT and presents it in the correct orientation for acetylating the residue. Rtt109 acetylates H3 K56 only when associated with both Asf1 and H4 in a transient Rtt109-H3/H4-Asf1 complex (116). The HAT itself interacts with, but does not stably bind histones (116, 169).

Rtt109 requires AcCoA to acetylate H3 K56, and both AcCoA and H3 must enter the active site of Rtt109 in order for acetylation to occur (116, 146, 147, 161, 170). The order of binding is not important and likely random. Rtt109 lacks AcCoA binding motif, but has been shown that functionally it binds the molecule similarly to other HATs (116). The reaction occurs between the ε -amino group of the lysine and the acetyl group of AcCoA (170). In mammalian p300, the binding

of AcCoA to the HAT is required prior to H3 binding, and the involvement of a histone chaperone is not necessary (9, 165, 171).

Rtt109/Asf1 is important for genome stability (116). Deletion of Rtt109 results in chromosomal rearrangement and genomic instability, hypersensitivity to DNA damage and activation of DNA damage checkpoints (146). *rtt109* deletion mutants lack H3 K56 acetylation (146, 172). The similarity in the profile of *rtt109* deletion mutants and *asf1* deletion mutants confirm that Rtt109 acts in the same pathway as Asf1 (146, 173, 174). The current model suggests that Asf1 binds new H3/H4 dimers, binding the C-terminus of H3, and presents the H3 K56 residue to Rtt109 for acetylation. Following acetylation, the heterodimer is transferred to CAF-1 for deposition onto chromatin (113, 115, 147, 150).

8. H3 K56 HDACs

The balance between acetylation and deacetylation of the H3 K56 residue is essential to the genomic stability of cells. Yeast cells that cannot undergo K56 acetylation are sensitive to genotoxic stress, but this sensitivity is even higher in cells that cannot deacetylate the residue (10, 57, 99, 146, 148, 151, 180). This puts special importance to histone deacetylases involved in removing the modification at the appropriate time in the cell cycle. The HDACs responsible for this are the Hst3 and Hst4 proteins (Sir2 in *Drosophila*; SIRT1 and SIRT2 in

humans), members of the Sirtuin family (9, 148, 149, 152, 175-180).

In yeast, Hst3 is present in low levels in S phase and increases in G2/M, opposite to the levels of H3 K56 acetylation (109, 148). It has been shown to deacetylate H3 K56 in mature chromatin. It is thought that K56 deacetylation in G2 might signal Hst3 degradation in G2/M, in order for K56 acetylation to accumulate again in G1 (148). The importance of sirtuins in deacetylating H3 K56 was shown by blocking sirtuin function, and a subsequent increase of acetylated K56 levels were observed; double deletion of Hst3 and Hst4 showed HDAC specificity to this residue, since acetylation at other residues was not affected (148).

Yeast Hst3 and Hst4 act redundantly and double deletion has severe effects (180). Double deletion increases the levels of acetylated H3 K56 even after S-phase (148). However, replication-induced DNA damage was observed by the presence of the DNA damage marker, phosphorylated H2A, long after DNA replication, indicating that deacetylation of H3 K56 is important for completion of double-stranded break repair (148). Failure to deacetylate K56 also leads to defective silencing in telomeres (151).

9. Specific Aims

It is apparent that H3 K56 is an important residue, though very little is known about its function in mammalian cells. The primary part of my project aimed to reveal more information about the role of this residue in human cells, mainly in nucleosome assembly during DNA replication. In addition, I attempted to construct an informational map of the post-translational modifications found on newly synthesized H3 histone variants.

Materials and Methods

Reagents

Buffer A 10 mM Tris, 1.8 mM BME, 3 mM MgCl₂,10 mM Sodium Butyrate, pH 7.6

HB Buffer 20 mM HEPES free acid, 5 mM KCl, 2 mM MgCl₂, 10 mM NaButyrate, pH 7.5

SDS Sample Buffer 0.1 M Tris, 2% SDS, 2 M urea, 23% glycerol, 5 M EDTA, 0.3 M BME, 0.002% BoBlue

SDS-PAGE Running gel 18% Acrylamide / 0.09% Bis-acrylamide, 0.75 M Tris pH 8.8, 0.1%SDS, 0.05% APS, 0.05% TEMED.

SDS-PAGE Stacking gel 6% Acrylamide / 0.16% Bis-acrylamide, 0.125 M Tris pH 6.8, 0.1% SDS, 0.05% APS, 0.1% TEMED

SDS-PAGE Running Buffer 50 mM Tris, 380 mM glycine, 0.1% SDS

SDS-PAGE Transfer Buffer 25 mM Tris, 192 mM Glycine, 20% Methanol

Blocking Buffer 50 mM Tris, 150 mM NaCl, 0.1% Tween-20, 0.2% w/v I-Block (Applied Biosystems, Cat# T2015).

1X PBS (Phosphate Buffered Saline) 0.008 M sodium phosphate, 0.002 M potassium phosphate, 0.14 M sodium chloride, 0.01 M potassium chloride, pH 7.4

1X TBS (Tris Buffered Saline) 50 mM Tris, 150 mM NaCl, pH 7.5

3E Buffer 0.12 M Tris, 6 mM NaOAc-3H2O, 3 mM EDTA, pH 7.6

4% SDS – DNA Sample Buffer 33% 3E Buffer, 5% glycerol, 1% SDS, 0.01% BoBlue 4% SDS - DNA Gel 4% Acrylamide / 0.2% Bis-acrylamide, 33% 3E Buffer, 0.1% SDS, 0.08% TEMED, 0.05% APS.

4% SDS – DNA Gel Running Buffer 26% 3E Buffer, 0.1% SDS

IP Wash Buffer 20 mM Tris pH 8.5, 0.5 M NaCl, 10 mM NaButyrate, 1 mM EDTA, 1% Triton X-100

High Salt TSE 1% Triton X-100, 2 mM EDTA, 500 mM NaCl, 20 mM Tris, pH 8.1

Medium Salt TSE 1% Triton X-100, 2 mM EDTA, 400 mM NaCl, 20 mM Tris, pH 8.1

Low Salt TSE 1% Triton X-100, 2 mM EDTA, 150 mM NaCl, 20 mM Tris, pH 8.1

2.5% SDS extraction buffer 1 mM EDTA pH 7.2, 10 mM Tris pH 7.4, 10 mM NaButyrate, 50 mM NaCl, 0.3 M BME, 2.5% SDS

0.5% SDS extraction buffer 1 mM EDTA pH 7.2, 10 mM Tris pH 7.4, 10 mM NaButyrate, 50 mM NaCl, 0.5% SDS

Methods

Cell culture

HEK 293 cells were grown at 37°C, 5% CO₂ in HyClone High Glucose DMEM supplemented with 9% Fetal Bovine Serum, Pen/Strep (100 U/mL penicillin, 0.1 mg/mL streptomycin), 2 mM L-Glutamine, 0.11 mg/mL G418, (0.055 mg/mL hygromycin, for transfected cells).

Creating wild type and mutant clones

Cells expressing FLAG-tagged histones were created using a HEK293 Tet-ON Advanced system, in which the addition of the tetracycline-derivative, doxycycline, induces the expression of FLAG-tagged proteins. FLAG-H3.1 clones were created by transfecting HEK293 Tet-ON Advanced cells with a DNA plasmid encoding the specific FLAG-histone. Hygromicin resistance marker was used to select for successfully transfected clones. Transfection medium was prepared by combining 500 µL Opti-1 DMEM, 10 µL of Lipofectamine 2000, 0.25 ug linear hygromycin marker, 3.75 ug plasmid DNA, incubated at room temperature for 20 min. Cells were grown to 90% confluency in Complete non-hygromycin DMEM in 6-well plates. Growth medium was removed and replaced by transfection medium to incubate for two days at 37°C. The medium was replaced with Complete hygromycin DMEM to select for transfected cells. Hygromicin-resistant clones were tested for induction.

Mutants

Cell lines containing mutant FLAG-histones were created by Cheryl Doughty by point-directed mutagenesis using the Stratagene QuikChange kit.

Test induction

Cells were grown in Complete hygromycin DMEM at 37°C in 6-well plates to 90% confluency. Cell were induced with 2 ug/mL doxycycline and incubated at 37°C for 4 hours. Cells were harvested and centrifuged at 2000 RPM for 2 min to remove the growth medium. Total cell extract was prepared as described below and samples were analyzed by Western Blot. Induction was confirmed by probing the blot with anti-FLAG antibody (Sigma Cat # F7425, 1:1000 dilution).

Total cell extract

Cell pellets were washed in 1 mL Buffer A and resuspended in 500 µL 2 mM EDTA with 0.2 M H₂SO₄. The samples were sonicated for 5 seconds to break up the plasma and nuclear membranes and incubated overnight at 4°C with constant rotation to allow acid-extraction of the proteins. Samples were centrifuged in a microcentrifuge at max speed for 10 min at 4°C, and the proteins in the supernatant were TCA-precipitated with 25% Trichloroacetic acid. Samples were washed with acetone to remove residual TCA, dried, and resuspended in SDS sample buffer to run on SDS-PAGE and transfer for Western blot.

Synchrony

Cells were treated with 5 mM Thymidine in Complete DMEM for 24 hours at 37° C, 5%CO₂ to block the cell cycle at the G1/S-phase boundary. Cells were then washed with unsupplemented DMEM, and released with DMEM containing 30 μ M deoxycytidine. At the time of the release, cells were also induced by supplementing the release medium with 2 ug/mL doxycycline. Cells were kept at 37° C, 5% CO₂ and harvested in mid- S phase, 4 hours after release. Samples were taken prior to thymidine treatment, prior to release, and at the time of harvest, in order to confirm the effectiveness of the synchrony by flow cytometry.

Flow Cytometry

Cells were obtained from culture and centrifuged at 1000 RPM for 2 min to remove the growth medium. Cells were washed in 1X phosphate buffered saline (PBS) supplemented with 20 mM EDTA, and resuspended in 70% ethanol overnight at 4°C to fix them for flow cytometry.

At the time of analysis, fixed cells were centrifuged at 2000 RPM for 2 min to remove the ethanol. Cells were washed in 1X phosphate buffered saline supplemented with 20 mM EDTA, and resuspended in the same buffer. Cells were prepared for staining and flow cytometry by adding 0.1% Triton X-100, 5% RNAse II (10 μ g/mL), and 5% propidium iodide. Cells were incubated at 37°C for 30 min. Cells were analyzed by flow cytometry using FACSCanto cyometer (BD

Bioscience) and BD FACSDiva Software.

Cytoplasmic S100 Isolation

Cells were harvested and centrifuged at 1500 RPM for 2 min in order to remove the growth medium. Cells were washed once with 30 mL ice cold Buffer A, followed by two washes in 30 mL ice cold HB Buffer. The cell pellet was centrifuged at 4000 RPM for 2 min at 4°C and resuspended in 500 µL HB Buffer. The cells were homogenized and incubated on ice for 30 min. The sample was centrifuged at 12000 RPM for 10 min at 4°C. The spin was repeated with the supernatant to ensure complete sedimentation of the pellet. The supernatant was transferred to an ultracentrifuge tube and centrifuged at 43000 RPM for 1.5 hours at 4°C in a Beckman TL-100 Ultracentrifuge, using a TLA-45 Rotor.

Immunorecipitation of FLAG-histones

Preparing beads

1x 150 μ L of mouse-M2 (anti-FLAG) beads (Sigma, Cat# F2426) per IP (for every 70 A₂₆₀ of nuclei)

2x 150 μ L of mouse-IgG beads (Sigma, Cat # A0919) per IP (for every 70 A₂₆₀ of nuclei)

Beads were washed 6x in 1 mL of 1X TBS. When immunoprecipitating chromatin, an additional wash with 1mL of 2 mM EDTA was performed to remove any salt.

Samples were prepared for IP by adding 0.25% Triton X-100, 1 mM PMSF, 1 mM EGTA. Samples were pre-cleared by incubating in non-immune IgG beads for 1 hour at room temperature, with constant rotation. Samples were centrifuged at 2000 RPM for 2 min and allowed to sit on ice for 5 min to settle.

Sequential IP was performed by incubating the pre-cleared supernatant with the non-immune IgG beads for 1 hour at room temperature, with constant rotation, to serve as a negative control. The samples were centrifuged at 2000 RPM for 2 min and allowed to sit on ice for 5 min to settle. The supernatant was then incubated with the M2 anti-FLAG beads overnight at 4°C with constant rotation. The IgG beads were stored in 2mM EDTA at 4°C overnight.

Treatment of S100 samples following FLAG-IP

The IP sample was centrifuged at 2000 RPM for 2 min and allowed to sit on ice for 5 min to settle. The supernatant, containing the unbound fraction, was saved. The M2 and IgG beads were washed 5x for 10 min in 1 mL of IP wash buffer supplemented with 1 mM PMSF, and 1x for 10 min in 10 mM Tris, pH 8.1.

Post IP-extraction from beads

After washing the beads post IP, they were extracted in an equal volume of 2.5% SDS extraction buffer at 70°C for 1 hour. Samples were centrifuged at 2000 RPM for 2 min and allowed to sit for 5 min at room temperature to settle. The

supernatant was transferred into a new tube, and the beads were washed with 150 µL of 0.5% SDS extraction buffer. The beads were centrifuged at max speed for 2 min and allowed to sit for 5 min at room temperature to settle. The supernatants were combined. Phenol/chloroform/alcohol (25:24:1) was added to the sample at a volume 58.6% of the sample volume, and the samples were shaken vigorously for 15 min. Samples were centrifuged at max speed for 10 min at 4°C. The aqueous layer was removed, and the organic layer was adjusted to 0.1 M HCl. 12 volumes of acetone were added, and the sample was incubated overnight at -20°C to precipitate the proteins. Samples were washed with acetone to remove residual phenol/chloroform, dried, and resuspended in SDS sample buffer to run on SDS-PAGE and transfer for Western blot.

SDS-PAGE

Gel and running buffer were prepared as previously described (181) and run at 37 mA constant current.

Western Blot

SDS-PAGE was transferred onto PVDF membrane overnight at 30 V constant voltage. Transfer buffer was prepared using standard recipe. Membrane was incubated at room temperature for 1 hour in blocking buffer, followed by 2 hours in primary antibody (rabbit anti-FLAG (Sigma, Cat# F7425, at 1:1000 dilution), rabbit anti-panH4 (Millipore, Cat# 07-108, at 1:1000 or 1:2000 dilution).

Membrane was washed twice in blocking buffer and incubated for 1 hour in secondary antibody (goat anti-rabbit-AP conjugated (Applied Biosystems, Cat# T2191, at 1:5000 dilution). Membrane was washed three times in blocking buffer, and incubated twice for 2 min each time in 1X Assay Buffer (Applied Biosystems, Cat# T2187), followed by a 5-minute incubation in CDP-star solution (Applied Biosystems, Cat# T2146) prior to exposure to film.

Radioactive Thymidine Labeling

Cells were harvested and centrifuged at 1500 RPM for 2 min in order to remove the growth medium. Cells were resuspended in 20 mL of Complete DMEM supplemented with 2 ug/mL doxycycline and 30 µM deoxycytidine, and labeled with 750 uCi ³H-Thymidine (83.2 Ci/mmol; Perkin Elmer) for 1.5 hours at 37°C with frequent agitation.

NaButyrate Treatment

Cells were harvested and centrifuged at 1500 RPM for 2 min in order to remove the growth medium. Cells were resuspended in 20 mL of Complete DMEM supplemented with 2 ug/mL doxycycline and 30 µM deoxycytidine, and treated with 25 mM NaButyrate for 2 hours at 37°C with frequent agitation.

Nuclei Isolation

Cells were harvested and centrifuged at 1500 RPM for 2 min in order to remove

the growth medium. Cells were washed twice in 20 mL ice cold Buffer A, then resuspended in 10 mL Buffer A and incubated on ice for 15 min. Cells were homogenized and washed with 20 mL Buffer A. Nuclei concentration was determined by measuring the absorbance at 260 nm.

Preparing mononucleosomes

Isolated nuclei were resuspended in Buffer A at 40 A_{260} /mL. The sample was adjusted to 0.5 mM CaCl₂ and pre-incubated at 37°C for 5 min. Chromatin was digested with 2 U/mL Micrococcal Nuclease (Sigma, Cat# N3755) for 3.5 minutes at 37°C. The digestion reaction was stopped by adding 2 mM EGTA, pH 7.6, and incubating on ice for 20 min. The sample was centrifuged at max speed for 10 minutes at 4°C. The S1 fraction, containing the mononucleosomes, was transferred to a new tube and A_{260} was measured to calculate the mononucleosome concentration. The remaining pellet was resuspended in 1 mL of 2 mM EDTA and incubated on ice for 20 min. The sample was centrifuged at max speed for 10 min at 4°C. The S2 fraction, containing the oligonucleosomes, was transferred to a new tube and A_{260} was measured to calculate the oligonucleosome concentration. The remaining pellet, the P fraction, was resuspended in 1 mL of 2 mM EDTA.

Immunorecipitation of H4 acetylated at K5, 12

Preparing beads

For every sample to be immunoprecipitated, 3 x 150 μ L of hydrated Protein A Sepharose beads (Amersham Scientific) per every 70 A₂₆₀ of nuclei were prepared.

Protein A Sepharose beads were hydrated in 1 mL High Salt TSE for 30 min at room temperature with constant rotation. Following incubation, the beads were centrifuged at 2000 RPM for 30 sec to remove the supernatant, and washed 2x 5 min in 1 mL High Salt TSE, and 2x 5 min in 1:1 beads:Low Salt TSE. Per 300 μ L of beads, 150 μ L of antibody (the 7481 anti-H4 K5,12ac (Annunziato Lab) or RNIS) were added, and the beads were incubated at 37° for 1.5 hours with constant rotation. Following incubtation, the beads were washed 3x 5 min in 500 μ L Low Salt TSE with 2 mM PMSF.

Samples were prepared for IP by adding 0.25% Triton X-100, 1 mM PMSF, 1 mM EGTA. Samples were pre-cleared by incubating in non-immune Rabbit Serum beads for 1 hour at room temperature, with constant rotation. Samples were centrifuged at 2000 RPM for 2 min and allowed to sit on ice for 5 min to settle.

Sequential IP was performed by incubating the pre-cleared supernatant with the non-immune beads for 1 hour at room temperature, with constant rotation, to
serve as a negative control. The samples were centrifuged at 2000 RPM for 2 min and allowed to sit on ice for 5 min to settle. The supernatant was then incubated overnight at 4°C with constant rotation with the 7481 beads, which contain the antibody that recognizes H4 acetylated at K5 and 12.

Treatment of ChIP samples following 7481-IP

The IP sample was centrifuged at 2000 RPM for 2 min and allowed to sit on ice for 5 min to settle. The supernatant, containing the unbound fraction, was saved. The 7481 and RNIS beads were washed 1x in 1 mL 2 mM EDTA to remove any salt, and 5x for 10 min in 1 mL of Medium Salt TSE supplemented with 1 mM PMSF, and 1x for 10 min in 10 mM Tris.

Post IP-extraction from beads

Post-IP extraction procedure for the ChIP samples was as described above.

Sample distribution

Part II Assembly into Chromatin Experiments, post-MNase digestion:

Of the S1 sample:

85% were prepared for IP

10% were prepared for Western Blot by MgCl₂/EtOH precipitation ("S1 input")

5 % were prepared for DNA gel by MgCl₂/EtOH precipitation

Of the S2 sample:

85% were prepared for IP

10% were prepared for Western Blot by MgCl₂/EtOH precipitation ("S2 input")

5 % were prepared for DNA gel by MgCl₂/EtOH precipitation

Of the P sample:

5 % were prepared for DNA gel by MgCl₂/EtOH precipitation

95% were frozen at -20°C

Part III Assembly onto new DNA Experiments, post-MNase digestion:

Of the S1 sample:

75% were prepared for IP

15% were prepared for Western Blot by MgCl₂/EtOH precipitation ("S1 input")

5% were TCA precipitated for scintillation counting

5 % were prepared for DNA gel by MgCl₂/EtOH precipitation

Of the S2 sample:

75% were prepared for IP

15% were prepared for Western Blot by MgCl₂/EtOH precipitation ("S2 input")

1% was TCA precipitated for scintillation counting

5 % were prepared for DNA gel by MgCl₂/EtOH precipitation

4% were frozen at -20°C

Of the P sample:

71% were prepared for Western Blot by MgCl₂/EtOH precipitation ("P")

6% were TCA precipitated for scintillation counting

5 % were prepared for DNA gel by $MgCl_2/EtOH$ precipitation

18% were frozen at -20°C

Part III Assembly onto new DNA Experiments, post-ChIP:

Of the IgG and M2 beads:

75% were TCA precipitated for scintillation counting

25% were extracted for Western Blot

Of the unbound samples:

75% were prepared for Western Blot by MgCl₂/EtOH precipitation

25% were saved for TCA precipitated for scintillation counting (only a volume equivalent to that of the input sample was TCA precipitated. The rest was frozen at -20°C).

*MgCl*₂/*EtOH* precipitation

Samples were adjusted to 10 mM MgCl₂. Two volumes of 95% Ethanol were added, and the samples were incubated in a dry ice/Ethanol bath for 5 min. Samples were centrifuged at max speed for 10 min at 4°C. The supernatant was discarded and the sample was dried and resuspended either in SDS sample buffer to run on SDS-PAGE and transfer for Western Blot, or in DNA sample buffer to run on DNA gel and stain.

TCA precipitation for scintillation counting

200 µL of 10 mM EDTA, 50 ug BSA-DNA carrier, and the appropriate sample were incubated in 3 mL 10% TCA on ice for 30 min. The samples were filtered onto glass fiber filters using vacuum apparatus. Filters were washed 2x 3 mL cold 10% TCA, and 2x 3 mL cold 95% EtOH. Filters were dried in scintillation vials overnight.

DNA gel

Gel and running buffer were prepared as previously described (182) and run at 110 V constant voltage. Following electrophoresis, gel is washed for 20 min in dH2O, stained for 20 min with Ethidium Bromide, destained for 20 min in dH2O. Photograph of gel is taken in UV gel box

Results and Discussion

Part I: Post-translational Modifications of Newly Synthesized Histones H3.1 and H3.3

As described in the introduction, post-translational modifications of histones are of major regulatory importance in a number of cellular events, including chromatin assembly, transcription, silencing, and repair (117-119). The pattern of modifications may dictate the activity of the chromatin that incorporates the modified histones, and this pattern is dynamic and changes throughout the cell cycle in accordance to the cellular needs of chromatin activity. The acetylation of histone H4 at lysines 5 and 12, as well as the acetylation of H3 at lysine 56 in yeast (21, 111, 147-149), are such examples of transient post-translational modifications. Clearly, the acetylation and subsequent deacetylation of these residues is important in the genomic stability.

In order to study the effect of post-translational modifications on chromatin activity, it is important to have a map of the pattern that is found on a given histone at a given point in the cell cycle. The goal of this part of my project is to create such a map for newly synthesized replication-coupled (H3.1) and replication-independent (H3.3) variants of histone H3 in S-phase. HEK293 cells with inducible expression of wild-type FLAG-H3.1 or wild-type FLAG-H3.3 were used for this purpose. The FLAG-tag allows for easy detection by anti-FLAG

antibodies, and since its expression is only induced for a few hours prior to the experiment, its presence is indicative of newly synthesized histones. Thus, any FLAG-tagged histone present must be recently synthesized, rather than pre-existing.

Cells were synchronized in S phase in order to obtain the maximum number of histones containing modifications that are specific to newly synthesized histones in S phase. Synchrony was obtained by treating the cells with 5 mM Thymidine for 24 hours in order for them to accumulate at the G1/S boundary. Cells were then released by removing the thymidine and adding deoxycitidine at 30 μ M for 4 hours, at which point the majority of cells were in mid-S phase. The synchrony was monitored by measuring the DNA content of cells through flow cytometry. Samples for flow analysis were taken at three time points throughout the experiment – prior to treatment, after 24-hour arrest, after 4-hour release. Cells were fixed for flow cytometry in 70% ethanol overnight at 4°C.

The clones expressing H3.1 synchronized to 68% in S phase, and the H3.3 clones synchronized to 84% in S (Fig. 1). It is not unusual for different clones to have different efficiency of synchrony, as there may be genetic variations that can account for that.

Expression of FLAG-histones was induced by treating with doxycycline at the time of release, for 4 hours to allow the synthesis of new histones FLAG-H3. Upon harvesting the cells, the cytoplasmic (S100) content, which includes the new histones, was extracted. Studying cytoplasmic histones ensures that the modifications being analyzed are specifically in the histones of the pre-deposition complex.

Following cytoplasmic extraction. FLAG-histones isolated were bv immunoprecipitating with anti-FLAG M2 beads, as described in the Materials and Methods. Subsequent removal of the FLAG-histone from the IP beads was necessary in order to obtain a pure sample of newly synthesized FLAG-H3.1 or FLAG-H3.3. The efficiency of immunoprecipitation was monitored by analyzing 10% of the sample by Western blot probing with anti-FLAG/anti-pan-H4 antibody (Fig. 2). Comparing the intensities of the input and bound bands (lanes 2 and 5, each representing 10% of the sample), it can be said that the majority of the FLAG-H3.1 is pulled down. Lanes 4 and 6 are controls to show that following IP, the FLAG-H3.1 is bound by the anti-FLAG beads (lane 4), and after extraction, no more FLAG-H3.1 remains bound to the beads (lane 6).

The induction of FLAG-histones in the HEK293 clones was routinely monitored in order to ensure that the cells do not constitutively express the protein in the absence of inducer, and that they still express when treated with doxycycline.

Figure 3 represents one such test, in which the sample in lane 1 is untreated, and the sample in lane 2 is treated with doxycycline for 4 hours. Total cell extracts were prepared by sonicating cells to break up the plasma and nuclear membranes and acid-extracting the proteins. Once in solution, proteins were TCA-precipitated and run on SDS-PAGE for Western blotting. Blots were probed with anti-FLAG/anti-pan-H4 antibodies. In a positive test, FLAG is not detected in the untreated sample, but is detected in the induced sample (Fig. 3).

The FLAG-H3.1 and FLAG-H3.3 samples obtained from this experiment are currently stored at -80°C and await their send-out to a Mass Spectrometry facility for analysis of the post-translational modifications found in each sample.

Beads Extraction

Anti-FLAG beads have very high affinity for the FLAG peptide, and extracting the FLAG-histones from the beads after immunoprecipitation required the development of a new extraction protocol (Fig. 4a). Following IP, the beads were washed extensively to remove any unbound or nonspecifically sticking material. Incubation at 70°C for 1 hour in a 2.5% SDS buffer containing 0.3 M 2-mercaptoethanol (ßME) was necessary to break the interactions between the anti-FLAG beads and the isolated proteins. The beads were subsequenty washed with 0.5% SDS buffer without ßME prior to the standard phenol-chloroform extraction described in the Materials and Methods (Fig. 4b).

Part II: FLAG-H3.1 S-phase assembly and the effect of K56 acetylation

In this part of the project, the questions of how efficiently the FLAG-H3.1 is assembled into chromatin and whether acetylation of K56 affects the efficiency were addressed directly. Two approaches were taken, the first of which aimed to detect whether FLAG-H3.1 associates with chromatin. This was done by comparing the ratios of FLAG-H3.1 to H4 in the total cell extract, the nuclei extract, and the chromatin of HEK293 cells. Differences in the ratios would indicate differences in the cellular distribution of FLAG-H3.1 compared to H4. Since H4 is essential for the assembly of all nucleosomes and chromatin formation, it is appropriate measurement to compare FLAG-H3.1 levels to.

Cells with inducible expression of wild type FLAG-H3.1 or a mutant version of FLAG-H3.1 were utilized. In the mutant histones, the K56 residue was changed to either Q or R. The K56Q mutant mimics constituitive acetylation of K56, while the K56R mutant mimics constituitively unacetylated K56. The cellular distribution of FLAG-H3.1 was compared among the wild type and two mutants, to determine the role of acetylation of K56 on deposition onto chromatin.

Cells were synchronized in S-phase to focus the study on the assembly in this point of the cell cycle. The synchrony was performed as described earlier, by blocking cells for 24 hours with 5 mM Thymidine and releasing for 4 hours with

30 uM deoxycitidine. Flow cytometric analysis confirmed that after the 4-hour release, 70% of the wild type, 68% of the K56Q, and 78% of the K56R cells were in S-phase (Fig. 5).

At the time of release, cells were treated with 2 ug/mL doxycycline in order to induce expression of FLAG-H3.1. Cells were harvested at 4 hours after release/induction, and an aliquot was saved as total cell sample. Proteins were extracted and tested for presence of FLAG-H3.1 following induction. Nuclei were isolated to analyze the chromatin content of the cells. An aliquot was saved to represent the nuclear content, and proteins were again extracted to test for FLAG-H3.1. Following nuclei isolation, chromatin was extracted by treating the sample with Micrococcal nuclease (MNase), which digests the linker DNA between the nucleosomes, leaving individual mononucleosomes intact. Because the amount of chromatin digested is directly proportional to the concentration of MNase and the incubation time, not everything is digested during the 3.5 minutes of incubation, resulting in two fractions of chromatin: S1 fraction, containing the mononucleosomes, and S2 fraction, containing oligonucleosomes. The degree of digestion is analyzed by running samples of each fraction on a 4% SDS-PAGE and staining with ethidium bromide (Fig. 6).

The ratios of FLAG-H3.1 to H4 found in each of the three fractions tested (total cell, nuclei, chromatin) were very similar to each other in cells expressing wild

type FLAG-H3.1, as well as cells expressing FLAG-H3.1 K56Q and FLAG-H3.1 K56R, suggesting that all of the FLAG-H3.1 detected in the cell is in the nucleus and is associated with chromatin (Fig. 7). No significant difference is observed in the levels of association of FLAG-H3.1 with chromatin between the unacetylatable K56R mutant and wild type FLAG-H3.1, suggesting that the lack of acetylation on the residue does not play a significant role in the efficiency of incorporation of the histone into chromatin.

The second approach to this part of the project directly tested whether FLAG-H3.1 is incorporated into nucleosomes. This involved the immunoprecipitation of H4 diacetylated at histones K5, 12. As mentioned previously, acetylation of these residues on H4 is a mark of newly synthesized histone H4 prior to incorporation into chromatin and shortly thereafter (42). By immunoprecipitating H4 K5,12ac₂ from chromatin and testing if FLAG-H3.1 is pulled down along with it, it can be determined with certainty whether or not (and to what degree) FLAG-H3.1 is incorporated into chromatin during S phase.

Cells were again synchronized in S phase and chromatin was isolated – the procedure used was as described above. However, following release of cells from thymidine block, the cells were treated for 2 hours with 25 mM sodium butyrate, an HDAC inhibitor. This treatment is done to ensure that the acetylation of newly synthesized H4 at lysines 5 and 12 will not be removed following

incorporation into chromatin and throughout the experimental procedure. The S1 and S2 fractions of chromatin were immunoprecipitated with anti- H4 K5,12ac₂ antibodies to immunoprecipitate all newly incorporated nucleosomes. Following IP, Western blot analysis probing with anti-FLAG demonstrated that FLAG-H3.1 was present in the immunoprecipitated nucleosomes (bound fractions) at H3/H4 ratios equivalent to those in the input and unbound fractions (Fig. 8). This was observed with the wild-type FLAG-H3.1 cells, as well as the cells expressing the K56Q and K56R FLAG-H3.1 mutants. The fact that the ratios of FLAG-H3.1/H4 K5,12ac₂ detected in the chromatin samples are equivalent is an indication that the FLAG-histones are incorporated into chromatin along with the new H4. Thus, consistent with the results shown in Figure 7, incorporation of the mutant histones into chromatin seems to occur similarly to wild-type FLAG-H3.1. Notably, the type of mutation, and consequently the presence or absence of acetylation on residue 56, does not seem to have a detectable effect on the degree of incorporation.

Part III: H3K56 assembly on newly synthesized DNA

The goal of this part of the project was to determine whether the acetylation of the H3 K56 residue is important for the deposition of histone H3 onto newly synthesized DNA. By comparing the efficiency of incorporation of each mutant histone into newly replicated DNA to that of wild type, it can be asked whether the presence of the modification on K56 affects nucleosome assembly specifically at the replication fork.

The experiment involved HEK293 cells with the capability to inducibly express either wild type or mutant FLAG-H3.1 in the presence of doxycycline. Cells were synchronized in S-phase, where DNA replication occurs and histone H3.1 is deposited on new DNA. The same synchrony procedure described earlier was used, and the synchrony was monitored by flow cytometry. Wild type cells synchronized on average to 70% in S phase at 3.5 hours after release (Fig. 9a), K56Q mutants synchronized up to 81% in S (Fig. 9b), and K56R mutants synchronized to 76% in S phase at the end of the release.

Cells were induced with 2 ug/mL doxycycline for a total of 5 hours from the time of release from the G1/S block, in order to express and incorporate FLAG-H3.1. To show that the induction was successful, a sample of cells was acquired just prior to the addition of doxycycline, and the total cell extract was tested by

Western blot to demonstrate that before the inducing agent, there is only trace FLAG-H3.1 present within the cells (Fig. 10, Lane 1). Another sample of cells, equivalent to the first, was acquired following the 5 hours of induction, prior to harvesting the cells, to show that after incubating with the inducing agent, FLAG-H3.1 is now present (Fig. 10, Lane 2).

At 3.5 hours into induction, the cells were treated for 1.5 hrs with 750 uCi of tritiated thymidine, which is incorporated into DNA as it replicates. Thus, any radiolabeled chromatin is known to be new. As DNA replicates, it needs to be wrapped around nucleosomes, and if the incorporated nucleosomes contain newly synthesized histones, FLAG-H3.1 will be detected in nucleosomes surrounded by radiolabeled DNA.

Following treatment, cells were harvested and nuclei were isolated, since the interest is in the nuclear histones. Chromatin was digested by incubating with micrococcal nuclease (MNase), which digests of the linker DNA between the nucleosomes resulting fractionation of the chromatin (Fig. 11). Chromatin was precipitated and tested for presence of FLAG-H3.1.

Both the S1 and S2 fractions were immunoprecipitated using anti-FLAG M2 beads in order to pull down any FLAG-H3.1 present in the samples. Non-immune IgG beads were used as a negative control. The bound and unbound fractions

from each IP were analyzed in as follows: 75% of the bound fractions and 25% of the unbound fractions were used for scintillation counting in order to determine the amount of radioactive DNA pulled down with the FLAG- histones; the remaining 25% of the bound and 75% of the unbound fractions were used for Western blotting in order to confirm efficient immunoprecipitation (see *Sample Distribution* in *Materials in Methods*).

Consistently, all of the FLAG-H3.1 in the IP samples was pulled down, as FLAG was only detected in the bound fractions of S1 and S2 and not in the unbound (Fig. 12). No FLAG was detected in the non-immune IgG samples.

In quantifying the amount of radioactive DNA pulled down with the FLAGhistones, each sample was counted in duplicate and averaged, and the values were normalized by subtracting background counts. It is important to note that the counts obtained for the M2 bound fractions in these experiments were consistently about one order of magnitude lower than seen with FLAG-H4 (C. Doughty, personal communication).

Using the data for the amounts of radioactivity in the total samples, the percentage of radiolabeled DNA that was pulled down was calculated by dividing the counts of the bound M2 sample by the total (bound + unbound). The percentage of radiolabeled DNA pulled down by non-specific sticking in the non-

immune negative control sample (calculated the same way) was subtracted from the M2. This number represents the percentage of FLAG-H3.1 that was incorporated into radiolabeled (new) DNA.

The calculated percentages averaged between 0.05% and 0.25% (Fig. 13). It is not surprising to see such small percentages, as the amount of FLAG-H3.1 in the cell is minute compared to the amount of native H3.1, resulting in a higher probability of native histones being incorporated. However, for the purposes of this project, the absolute amount of FLAG-H3.1 incorporated is not important, as the comparison is among the incorporation of the different mutants, all of which are FLAG-tagged.

Based on the average percentages of incorporation of wild-type compared to mutant H3.1, the S1 fractions seem to show very slight preferential incorporation in the K56Q mutant (Fig. 13a). The opposite is seen with the K56R mutant, where there seems to be no incorporation on newly synthesized DNA (inconsistent with earlier western blot results!). The calculated percentages of incorporation for the wild type and different mutants are very close to each other, and due to the low scintillation counts, a definite conclusion cannot be made without additional experiments. If these data prove to be statistically significant, they may suggest that acetylation at that residue might positively influence the

deposition of H3.1 at the replication fork, however further analysis is necessary to determine the reason for inconsistency with the K56R results.

The S2 fractions show insignificant differences in the amount of incorporation of the wild type and mutants (Fig. 13b). This is not entirely surprising, as the amount of radiolabeled DNA in the S2 fraction represents the DNA pulled down in an array of oligonucleosomes. Thus, single FLAG-H3.1s can pull down arrays of various lengths, and the amount of labeled DNA is not directly proportional to the amount of FLAG, as it would be in a mononucleosome. Here, low levels of K56R incorporation are observed, although they remain lower than wild type. This may indicate that K56R mutants do incorporate into chromatin, but much less efficiently than wild type H3.1. If this is true, it can explain why previous results detected K56R mutants in chromatin.

The fact that mimicking constitutive acetylation at H3 K56 increases chromatin assembly at the replication fork is not surprising. Chromatin assembly factor CAF-1, known to be involved in the deposition of replication-coupled histone H3 variants, has been shown to preferentially bind H3/H4 heterodimers containing H56-acetylated H3.1, and that this modification directly affects the binding affinity of H3 to this chromatin assembly factor (10, 22, 42-46, 115). Since the levels of native H3.1 acetylated at K56 are low in mammalian cells (125), a constitutive modification of this residue will increase the amount of H3.1 that has higher

affinity for CAF-1, and thus higher deposition will be observed. CAF-1 associates with DNA polymerase processivity factor, PCNA, at the replication fork, further supporting the deposition of H3.1 at the replication fork (41, 47, 48).

FIGURES



Figure 1: Flow cytometry analysis demonstrating progress of cell synchrony of HEK293 cells prior to cytoplasmic histone isolation for PTM analysis. Control samples consist of asynchronously cycling HEK293 cells encoding, but not expressing wild-type FLAG-H3.1 (a) and wild-type FLAG-H3.3 (b). The 24 hr arrest samples represent cells treated with 5 mM Thymidine for 24 hrs to block at the G1/S boundary. The 4 hr release samples represent cells treated with 30 uM deoxycitidine to release the block and 2 ug/mL doxycycline to induce FLAG-H3.1 expression.

(a). Of the control sample, 36% of cells are in G1 phase, 36% in S, and 17% in G2. After 24-hour arrest, 25% are in G1, 60% in S, 8% in G2. At the end of the 4-hour release, 15% of cells are in G1, 68 are in S, 12% are in G2.

(b). Of the control sample, 38% of cells are in G1 phase, 38% in S, and 20% in G2. After 24-hour arrest, 10% are in G1, 80% in S, 8% in G2. At the end of the 4-hour release, 5% of cells are in G1, 84% in S, 8% in G2.



Figure 2: Western blot analysis of immunoprecipitation of S100 extract from S phase HEK293 cells expressing FLAG-H3.1. Lane content: 1. FLAG-H3.1 marker; 2. Input (10% of total S100 sample); 3. Unbound (100%); 4. Post-IP beads (10%) – beads immediately after IP; 5. Bound fraction after extraction from beads (10%); Upper band observed in Lane 5 (consistently observed in samples incubated with FLAG M2 beads), is thought to be resulting from the beads; 6. Post-extraction beads (90%) – beads following the extraction of FLAG-H3.1; Blot was probed with anti-FLAG (1:1000) / anti-pan-H4 (1:2000); 3.5-minute exposure.



Figure 3: FLAG-H3.1 induction test by Western blot.

Total cell extract from (1) Uninduced and (2) Induced asynchronous HEK293 cells encoding wild-type FLAG-H3.1. Blot was probed with anti-FLAG (1:1000) / anti-pan-H4 (1:2000); 5-minute exposure.



Figure 4: Western blot analysis of extraction efficiency of FLAG-histones from anti-FLAG M2 affinity beads.

(a). Unsuccessful extraction. Lane content: 1. FLAG-H3.1 marker; 2. Unbound (100%); 3. Bound fraction after extraction from beads (100%); 4. Post-extraction beads (100%) – beads following the extraction of FLAG-H3.1. Blot was probed with anti-FLAG (1:1000); 3-minute exposure.

(b). Successful extraction. Lane content: 1. Unbound (100%); 2. Post-IP beads (10%) – beads immediately after IP; 3. Bound fraction after extraction from beads (10%); 4. Post-extraction beads (90%) – beads following the extraction of FLAG-H3.1; Blot was probed with anti-FLAG (1:1000); 3.5-minute exposure.



Figure 5: Flow cytometry analysis demonstrating progress of cell synchrony of HEK293 cells prior to ChIP for nucleosome assembly study.

Control sample consists of asynchronously cycling HEK293 cells encoding, but not expressing, wild-type (a), K56Q (b), or K56R (c) FLAG-H3.1. The 24 hr arrest sample represents cells treated with 5 mM Thymidine for 24 hrs to block at the G1/S boundary. The 4 hr release sample represents cells treated with 30 uM deoxycitidine to release the block and 2 ug/mL doxycycline to induce FLAG-H3.1 expression.

(a) Control: 22% in G1, 40% in S, 32% in G2; 24-hr arrest: 28% in G1, 52% in S, 15% in G2; 4-hr release: 15% in G1, 70% in S, 12% in G2

(b) Control: 47% in G1, 33% in S, 16% in G2; 24-hr arrest: 34% in G1, 52% in S, 9% in G2; 4-hr release: 18% in G1, 68% in S, 10% in G2.

(c) Control: 43% in G1, 35% in S, 17% in G2; 24- hr arrest: 29% in G1, 58% in S, 6% in G2; 4-hr release: 7% in G1, 78% in S, 12% in G2.



Figure 7 (right): Detection of wild-type FLAG-H3.1 (a), FLAG-H3.1 K56Q (b), and FLAG H3.1 K56R (c) in chromatin of HEK293.

(a) Lane content: 1. FLAG-H3.1 marker; 2. Total cell extract from HEK293 cells expressing wild-type FLAG-H3.1; 3. Nuclei; 4. chromatin fraction. Blot probed with anti-FLAG (1:1000) / anti-pan-H4 (1:2000); 5-minute exposure.
(b) Lane content: 1. Uninduced HEK293 cells encoding FLAG-H3 K56Q; 2. Total cell extract from cells expressing FLAG-H3.1 K56Q; 3. Nuclei; 4. Chromatin fraction. Blot probed with anti-FLAG (1:1000) / anti-FLAG (1:1000) / anti-pan-H4 (1:1000); 1-minute exposure.

(c) Lane content: 1. Total cell extract from cells expressing FLAG-H3.1 K56R; 2. Nuclei; 3. Chromatin fraction. Blot was probed with anti-FLAG (1:1000) / anti-pan-H4 (1:1000); 1.5-minute exposure.



Figure 8: Detection of wild-type FLAG-H3.1 (a), FLAG-H3.1 K56Q (b), and FLAG H3.1 K56R (c) in chromatin of HEK293 cells following immunoprecipitation with anti-H4 K5,12 ac₂.

Lane content (a-b): 1. FLAG-H3.1 marker; 2. S1 input; 3. S1 unbound; 4. S1 Bound; 5. S1 non-immune; 6. S2 input; 7. S2 unbound; 8; S2 Bound; 9. S2 non-immune; 10. Uninduced; 11. Total cell extract; 12. Nuclei;

Lane content (c): 1. FLAG-H3.1 marker; 2. S1 input; 3. S1 unbound; 4. S1 Bound; 5. S1 non-immune; 6. S2 input; 7. S2 unbound; 8; S2 non-immune; 9. S2 Bound; 10. Uninduced; 11. Total cell extract; 12. Nuclei;

Top blots are probed with anti-FLAG (1:1000), bottom blots are probed with anti-H4 K5,12ac₂ (1:5000); 10-sec exposure.



Figure 9: Flow cytometry analysis demonstrating progress of cell synchrony of HEK293 cells prior to radiolabeling experiment for replication fork analysis. Control samples consist of asynchronously cycling HEK293 cells encoding, but not expressing wild type (a), K56Q (b), or K56R (c) FLAG-H3.1. The 24 hr arrest samples represent cells treated with 5 mM Thymidine for 24 hrs to block at the G1/S boundary. The 3.5 hr release samples represent cells treated with 30 uM deoxycitidine to release the block and 2 ug/mL doxycycline to induce FLAG-H3.1 expression.

(a). Control: 41% in G1, 29% in S, 25% in G2; 24-hr arrest: 39% in G1, 50% in S, 7% in G2; 3.5-hr release: 11% in G1, 70% in S, 14% in G2.

(b). Control: 43% in G1, 29% in S, 26% in G2; 24-hr arrest: 30% in G1, 62% in S, 6% in G2; 3.5-hr release: 8% in G1, 81% in S, 9% in G2.

(c). Control: 30% in G1, 48% in S, 11% in G2; 24-hr arrest: 22% in G1, 64% in S, 5% in G2; 4-hr release: 11% in G1, 76% in S; 7% in G2.



Figure 10: FLAG-H3.1 induction test by Western blot.

Total cell extract from 1. Uninduced and 2. Induced S-phase HEK293 cells encoding FLAG-H3.1 K56Q. Blot probed with anti-FLAG (1:1000) / antipan-H4 (1:1000); 1-minute exposure.



Figure 11: Efficiency of Mnase digestion.

Lane content: 1. S1 – mononucleosomes (0.4 OD); 2. S2 – oligonucleosomes (0.2 OD); 3. P – pellet (0.4 OD). Ethidium bromide staining.



Figure 12: Western blot analysis of immunoprecipitation of thymidine radiolabeled mono- and oligonucleosomes from S-phase HEK293 cells expressing wild type FLAG-H3.1 (a), FLAG-H3.1 K56Q (b), and FLAG-H3.1 K56R (c).

(a). Lane content: 1. S1 input; 2. S1 unbound (75%); 3. S1 bound (25%); 4. S1 non-immune IgG (25%); 5. S2 input; 6. S2 unbound (75%); 7. S2 bound (25%); 8. S2 non-immune IgG (25)%; 9. Induced total cell extract; 10. Nuclei. Blot probed with anti-FLAG (1:1000) / anti-pan-H4 (1:2000); 5-minute exposure.

(b). Lane content: 1. Uninduced; 2. Induced; 3. Nuclei; 4. S1 input; 5. S1 unbound (75%); 6. S1 bound (25%); 7. S1 non-immune IgG (25%); 8. S2 input;
9. S2 unbound (75%); 10. S2 bound (25%); 11. S2 non-immune IgG (25%). Blot probed with anti-FLAG (1:1000) / anti-pan-H4 (1:1000); 1-minute exposure.
(c). Lane content: 1. FLAG-H3.1 marker; 2. S1 input; 3. S1 unbound (75%); 4. S1 bound (25%); 5. S1 non-immune IgG (25%); 6. S2 input; 7. S2 unbound (75%);
8. S2 bound (25%); 9. S2 non-immune IgG (25%); 10 uninduced; 11. Induced; 12. Nuclei. Blot probed with anti-FLAG (1:1000)/ anti-pan-H4 (1:1000); 1-minute exposure.



Figure 13: Average percentage of FLAG-H3.1 histones incorporated into newly synthesized DNA. Average of the percentages calculated from each experiment, based on the amount of radiolabeled DNA in the FLAG-bound fraction compared to the total IP amount. Equivalent to the percentage of FLAG-H3.1 incorporated into newly synthesized DNA. Error bars represent standard error. (a) based on data from S1 mononucleosomes sample; (b) based on data from S2 oligonucleosome sample.

REFERENCES

- 1. Luger K, Mäder AW, Richmond RK, Sargent DF, Richmond TJ. *Crystal structure of the nucleosome core particle at 2.8 Å resolution*. Nature. 1997 Sep 18;389(6648):251-60.
- 2. Luger K. Dynamic nucleosomes. Chromosome Res. 2006;14(1):5-16.
- 3. Wu J, Grunstein M. **25 years after the nucleosome model: chromatin modifications**. Trends Biochem Sci. 2000 Dec;25(12):619-23.
- 4. Dorigo B, Schalch T, Bystricky K, Richmond TJ. *Chromatin fiber folding: requirement for the histone H4 N-terminal tail.* J Mol Biol. 2003 Mar 14;327(1):85-96.
- 5. Chen CC, Carson JJ, Feser J, Tamburini B, Zabaronick S, Linger J, Tyler JK. *Acetylated lysine 56 on histone H3 drives chromatin assembly after repair and signals for the completion of repair*. Cell. 2008 Jul 25;134(2):231-43.
- Williams SK, Truong D, Tyler JK. Acetylation in the globular core of histone H3 on lysine-56 promotes chromatin disassembly during transcriptional activation. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2008 Jul 1;105(26):9000-5. Epub 2008 Jun 24.
- 7. Xu F, Zhang K, Grunstein M. *Acetylation in histone H3 globular domain regulates gene expression in yeast*. Cell. 2005 May 6;121(3):375-85.
- Tjeertes JV, Miller KM, Jackson SP. Screen for DNA-damage-responsive histone modifications identifies H3K9Ac and H3K56Ac in human cells. EMBO J. 2009 Jul 8;28(13):1878-89. Epub 2009 Apr 30.
- Das C, Lucia MS, Hansen KC, Tyler JK. CBP/p300-mediated acetylation of histone H3 on lysine 56. Nature. 2009 May 7;459(7243):113-7. Epub 2009 Mar 8.
- Masumoto H, Hawke D, Kobayashi R, Verreault A. A role for cell-cycle-regulated histone H3 lysine 56 acetylation in the DNA damage response. Nature. 2005 Jul 14;436(7048):294-8.
- 11. Groth A. *Replicating chromatin: a tale of histones*. Biochem Cell Biol. 2009 Feb;87(1):51-63.
- Falbo KB, Shen X. Chromatin remodeling in DNA replication. J Cell Biochem. 2006 Mar 1;97(4):684-9.
- Groth A, Rocha W, Verreault A, Almouzni G. Chromatin challenges during DNA replication and repair. Cell. 2007 Feb 23;128(4):721-33.
- Krude T. Chromatin assembly during DNA replication in somatic cells. Eur J Biochem. 1999 Jul;263(1):1-5.
- 15. Annunziato, A. T. (1995) in *The Nucleus* (Wolffe, A. P., ed) Vol. 1, pp. 31–55, JAI Press, Greenwich, CT
- Worcel A, Han S, Wong ML. Assembly of newly replicated chromatin. Cell. 1978 Nov;15(3):969-77.

- Lucchini R, Sogo JM. *Replication of transcriptionally active chromatin*. Nature. 1995 Mar 16;374(6519):276-80.
- Kaufman P.D. and Almouzni G, *DNA replication, nucleotide excision repair, and nucleosome assembly*. In: S.C.R Second Edition, J.L Elgin and and Workman, Editors, *Chromatin Structure and Gene Expression*, Oxford University Press, Oxford (2000), pp. 24–48.
- 19. Sharp JA, Kaufman PD. *Chromatin proteins are determinants of centromere function*. Curr Top Microbiol Immunol. 2003;274:23-52.
- 20. Smith S, Stillman B. *Stepwise assembly of chromatin during DNA replication in vitro*. EMBO J. 1991 Apr;10(4):971-80.
- 21. Jackson V, Shires A, Tanphaichitr N, Chalkley R. *Modifications to histones immediately after synthesis*. J Mol Biol. 1976 Jun 25;104(2):471-83.
- Tyler JK. Chromatin assembly. Cooperation between histone chaperones and ATPdependent nucleosome remodeling machines. Eur J Biochem. 2002 May;269(9):2268-74.
- 23. Almouzni G, Clark DJ, Méchali M, Wolffe AP. *Chromatin assembly on replicating DNA in vitro*. Nucleic Acids Res. 1990 Oct 11;18(19):5767-74.
- 24. Tagami H, Ray-Gallet D, Almouzni G, Nakatani Y. *Histone H3.1 and H3.3 complexes mediate nucleosome assembly pathways dependent or independent of DNA synthesis*. Cell. 2004 Jan 9;116(1):51-61.
- 25. Pusarla RH, Bhargava P. *Histones in functional diversification. Core histone variants*. FEBS J. 2005 Oct;272(20):5149-68.
- 26. Franklin SG, Zweidler A. *Non-allelic variants of histones 2a, 2b and 3 in mammals*. Nature. 1977 Mar 17;266(5599):273-5.
- 27. Hraba-Renevey S, Kress M. *Expression of a mouse replacement histone H3.3 gene with a highly conserved 3' noncoding region during SV40- and polyoma-induced Go to S-phase transition*. Nucleic Acids Res. 1989 Apr 11;17(7):2449-61.
- Hake SB, Allis CD. Histone H3 variants and their potential role in indexing mammalian genomes: the "H3 barcode hypothesis". Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2006 Apr 25;103(17):6428-35. Epub 2006 Mar 29.
- Goldberg AD, Banaszynski LA, Noh KM, Lewis PW, Elsaesser SJ, Stadler S, Dewell S, Law M, Guo X, Li X, Wen D, Chapgier A, DeKelver RC, Miller JC, Lee YL, Boydston EA, Holmes MC, Gregory PD, Greally JM, Rafii S, Yang C, Scambler PJ, Garrick D, Gibbons RJ, Higgs DR, Cristea IM, Urnov FD, Zheng D, Allis CD. *Distinct factors control histone variant H3.3 localization at specific genomic regions*. Cell. 2010 Mar 5;140(5):678-91.
- 30. Wu RS, Bonner WM. Separation of basal histone synthesis from S-phase histone synthesis in dividing cells. Cell. 1981 Dec;27(2 Pt 1):321-30.
- 31. Wu RS, Tsai S, Bonner WM. Patterns of histone variant synthesis can distinguish

G0 from G1 cells. Cell. 1982 Dec;31(2 Pt 1):367-74.

- 32. Jackson V, Chalkley R. *Histone synthesis and deposition in the G1 and S phases of hepatoma tissue culture cells*. Biochemistry. 1985 Nov 19;24(24):6921-30.
- Thiriet C, Hayes JJ. A novel labeling technique reveals a function for histone H2A/H2B dimer tail domains in chromatin assembly in vivo. Genes Dev. 2001 Aug 15;15(16):2048-53.
- 34. Ahmad K, Henikoff S. *The histone variant H3.3 marks active chromatin by replication-independent nucleosome assembly*. Mol Cell. 2002 Jun;9(6):1191-200.
- Jin C, Zang C, Wei G, Cui K, Peng W, Zhao K, Felsenfeld G. H3.3/H2A.Z double variant-containing nucleosomes mark 'nucleosome-free regions' of active promoters and other regulatory regions. Nat Genet. 2009 Aug;41(8):941-5. Epub 2009 Jul 26.
- Mito Y, Henikoff JG, Henikoff S. Genome-scale profiling of histone H3.3 replacement patterns. Nat Genet. 2005 Oct;37(10):1090-7. Epub 2005 Sep 11.
- 37. Mito Y, Henikoff JG, Henikoff S. *Histone replacement marks the boundaries of cisregulatory domains*. Science. 2007 Mar 9;315(5817):1408-11.
- Wong LH, Ren H, Williams E, McGhie J, Ahn S, Sim M, Tam A, Earle E, Anderson MA, Mann J, Choo KH. *Histone H3.3 incorporation provides a unique and functionally essential telomeric chromatin in embryonic stem cells*. Genome Res. 2009 Mar;19(3):404-14. Epub 2009 Feb 5.
- Park YJ, Luger K. *Histone chaperones in nucleosome eviction and histone exchange*. Curr Opin Struct Biol. 2008 Jun;18(3):282-9. Epub 2008 Jun 3.
- 40. Ridgway P, Almouzni G. *CAF-1 and the inheritance of chromatin states: at the crossroads of DNA replication and repair*. J Cell Sci. 2000 Aug;113 (Pt 15):2647-58.
- 41. Verreault A. *De novo nucleosome assembly: new pieces in an old puzzle*. Genes Dev. 2000 Jun 15;14(12):1430-8.
- 42. Annunziato AT, Hansen JC. *Role of histone acetylation in the assembly and modulation of chromatin structures*. Gene Expr. 2000;9(1-2):37-61.
- 43. Kaufman PD. *Nucleosome assembly: the CAF and the HAT*. Curr Opin Cell Biol. 1996 Jun;8(3):369-73.
- 44. Loyola A, Almouzni G. *Histone chaperones, a supporting role in the limelight*. Biochim Biophys Acta. 2004 Mar 15;1677(1-3):3-11.
- 45. Kaufman PD, Kobayashi R, Stillman B. *Ultraviolet radiation sensitivity and reduction of telomeric silencing in Saccharomyces cerevisiae cells lacking chromatin assembly factor-I*. Genes Dev. 1997 Feb 1;11(3):345-57.
- Kaufman PD, Kobayashi R, Kessler N, Stillman B. The p150 and p60 subunits of chromatin assembly factor I: a molecular link between newly synthesized histones and DNA replication. Cell. 1995 Jun 30;81(7):1105-14.

- 47. Shibahara K, Stillman B. *Replication-dependent marking of DNA by PCNA facilitates CAF-1-coupled inheritance of chromatin*. Cell. 1999 Feb 19;96(4):575-85.
- Hasan S, Hassa PO, Imhof R, Hottiger MO. *Transcription coactivator p300 binds PCNA and may have a role in DNA repair synthesis*. Nature. 2001 Mar 15;410(6826):387-91.
- Mello JA, Silljé HH, Roche DM, Kirschner DB, Nigg EA, Almouzni G. Human Asf1 and CAF-1 interact and synergize in a repair-coupled nucleosome assembly pathway. EMBO Rep. 2002 Apr;3(4):329-34. Epub 2002 Mar 15.
- Gaillard PH, Martini EM, Kaufman PD, Stillman B, Moustacchi E, Almouzni G. Chromatin assembly coupled to DNA repair: a new role for chromatin assembly factor I. Cell. 1996 Sep 20;86(6):887-96.
- Gaillard PH, Moggs JG, Roche DM, Quivy JP, Becker PB, Wood RD, Almouzni G. Initiation and bidirectional propagation of chromatin assembly from a target site for nucleotide excision repair. EMBO J. 1997 Oct 15;16(20):6281-9.
- Moggs JG, Grandi P, Quivy JP, Jónsson ZO, Hübscher U, Becker PB, Almouzni G. A CAF-1-PCNA-mediated chromatin assembly pathway triggered by sensing DNA damage. Mol Cell Biol. 2000 Feb;20(4):1206-18.
- 53. Martini E, Roche DM, Marheineke K, Verreault A, Almouzni G. *Recruitment of phosphorylated chromatin assembly factor 1 to chromatin after UV irradiation of human cells*. J Cell Biol. 1998 Nov 2;143(3):563-75.
- 54. Enomoto S, McCune-Zierath PD, Gerami-Nejad M, Sanders MA, Berman J. *RLF2, a subunit of yeast chromatin assembly factor-I, is required for telomeric chromatin function in vivo*. Genes Dev. 1997 Feb 1;11(3):358-70.
- Monson EK, de Bruin D, Zakian VA. The yeast Cac1 protein is required for the stable inheritance of transcriptionally repressed chromatin at telomeres. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 1997 Nov 25;94(24):13081-6.
- Enomoto S, Berman J. Chromatin assembly factor I contributes to the maintenance, but not the re-establishment, of silencing at the yeast silent mating loci. Genes Dev. 1998 Jan 15;12(2):219-32.
- 57. Tyler JK, Adams CR, Chen SR, Kobayashi R, Kamakaka RT, Kadonaga JT. *The RCAF complex meditates chromatin assembly during DNA replication and repair*. Nature. 1999 Dec 2;402(6761):555-60.
- Adkins MW, Tyler JK. The histone chaperone Asf1p mediates global chromatin disassembly in vivo. J Biol Chem. 2004 Dec 10;279(50):52069-74. Epub 2004 Sep 26.
- Kaufman PD, Cohen JL, Osley MA. *Hir proteins are required for position-dependent* gene silencing in Saccharomyces cerevisiae in the absence of chromatin assembly factor I. Mol Cell Biol. 1998 Aug;18(8):4793-806.
- 60. Wall MA, Coleman DE, Lee E, Iñiguez-Lluhi JA, Posner BA, Gilman AG, Sprang SR. *The structure of the G protein heterotrimer Gi alpha 1 beta 1 gamma 2*. Cell. 1995 Dec 15;83(6):1047-58.

- Lamour V, Lécluse Y, Desmaze C, Spector M, Bodescot M, Aurias A, Osley MA, Lipinski M. *A human homolog of the S. cerevisiae HIR1 and HIR2 transcriptional repressors cloned from the DiGeorge syndrome critical region*. Hum Mol Genet. 1995 May;4(5):791-9.
- Wilming LG, Snoeren CA, van Rijswijk A, Grosveld F, Meijers C. *The murine homologue of HIRA, a DiGeorge syndrome candidate gene, is expressed in embryonic structures affected in human CATCH22 patients*. Hum Mol Genet. 1997 Feb;6(2):247-58.
- 63. Neer EJ, Schmidt CJ, Nambudripad R, Smith TF. *The ancient regulatory-protein family of WD-repeat proteins*. Nature. 1994 Sep 22;371(6495):297-300.
- 64. Duronio RJ, Gordon JI, Boguski MS. *Comparative analysis of the beta transducin family with identification of several new members including PWP1, a nonessential gene of Saccharomyces cerevisiae that is divergently transcribed from NMT1.* Proteins. 1992 May;13(1):41-56.
- 65. van der Voorn L, Ploegh HL. The WD-40 repeat. FEBS Lett. 1992 Jul 28;307(2):131-4.
- 66. Peterson CL, Laniel MA. *Histones and histone modifications*. Curr Biol. 2004 Jul 27;14(14):R546-51.
- 67. Lambright DG, Sondek J, Bohm A, Skiba NP, Hamm HE, Sigler PB. *The 2.0 A crystal structure of a heterotrimeric G protein*. Nature. 1996 Jan 25;379(6563):311-9.
- 68. Sondek J, Bohm A, Lambright DG, Hamm HE, Sigler PB. *Crystal structure of a Gprotein beta gamma dimer at 2.1A resolution*. Nature. 1996 Jan 25;379(6563):369-74.
- 69. Neer EJ, Smith TF. *G protein heterodimers: new structures propel new questions*. Cell. 1996 Jan 26;84(2):175-8.
- Ray-Gallet D, Quivy JP, Scamps C, Martini EM, Lipinski M, Almouzni G. *HIRA is critical* for a nucleosome assembly pathway independent of DNA synthesis. Mol Cell. 2002 May;9(5):1091-100.
- 71. Lorain S, Quivy JP, Monier-Gavelle F, Scamps C, Lécluse Y, Almouzni G, Lipinski M. *Core histones and HIRIP3, a novel histone-binding protein, directly interact with WD repeat protein HIRA*. Mol Cell Biol. 1998 Sep;18(9):5546-56.
- 72. Magnaghi P, Roberts C, Lorain S, Lipinski M, Scambler PJ. *HIRA, a mammalian homologue of Saccharomyces cerevisiae transcriptional co-repressors, interacts with Pax3*. Nat Genet. 1998 Sep;20(1):74-7.
- 73. Loyola A, Almouzni G. *Marking histone H3 variants: how, when and why?* Trends Biochem Sci. 2007 Sep;32(9):425-33. Epub 2007 Aug 30.
- Konev AY, Tribus M, Park SY, Podhraski V, Lim CY, Emelyanov AV, Vershilova E, Pirrotta V, Kadonaga JT, Lusser A, Fyodorov DV. *CHD1 motor protein is required for deposition of histone variant H3.3 into chromatin in vivo*. Science. 2007 Aug 24;317(5841):1087-90.
- 75. Bonnefoy E, Orsi GA, Couble P, Loppin B. The essential role of Drosophila HIRA for

de novo assembly of paternal chromatin at fertilization. PLoS Genet. 2007 Oct;3(10):1991-2006. Epub 2007 Sep 10.

- 76. Hödl M, Basler K. *Transcription in the absence of histone H3.3*. Curr Biol. 2009 Jul 28;19(14):1221-6. Epub 2009 Jun 11.
- Nakayama T, Nishioka K, Dong YX, Shimojima T, Hirose S. Drosophila GAGA factor directs histone H3.3 replacement that prevents the heterochromatin spreading. Genes Dev. 2007 Mar 1;21(5):552-61.
- Sakai A, Schwartz BE, Goldstein S, Ahmad K. *Transcriptional and developmental functions of the H3.3 histone variant in Drosophila*. Curr Biol. 2009 Nov 17;19(21):1816-20. Epub 2009 Sep 24.
- 79. Hall C, Nelson DM, Ye X, Baker K, DeCaprio JA, Seeholzer S, Lipinski M, Adams PD. HIRA, the human homologue of yeast Hir1p and Hir2p, is a novel cyclin-cdk2 substrate whose expression blocks S-phase progression. Mol Cell Biol. 2001 Mar;21(5):1854-65.
- De Lucia F, Lorain S, Scamps C, Galisson F, MacHold J, Lipinski M. Subnuclear localization and mitotic phosphorylation of HIRA, the human homologue of Saccharomyces cerevisiae transcriptional regulators Hir1p/Hir2p. Biochem J. 2001 Sep 1;358(Pt 2):447-55.
- 81. Osley MA, Lycan D. *Trans-acting regulatory mutations that alter transcription of Saccharomyces cerevisiae histone genes*. Mol Cell Biol. 1987 Dec;7(12):4204-10.
- 82. Sherwood PW, Tsang SV, Osley MA. *Characterization of HIR1 and HIR2, two genes required for regulation of histone gene transcription in Saccharomyces cerevisiae*. Mol Cell Biol. 1993 Jan;13(1):28-38.
- 83. Spector MS, Raff A, DeSilva H, Lee K, Osley MA. *Hir1p and Hir2p function as transcriptional corepressors to regulate histone gene transcription in the Saccharomyces cerevisiae cell cycle*. Mol Cell Biol. 1997 Feb;17(2):545-52.
- 84. Dimova D, Nackerdien Z, Furgeson S, Eguchi S, Osley MA. *A role for transcriptional repressors in targeting the yeast Swi/Snf complex*. Mol Cell. 1999 Jul;4(1):75-83.
- Shibahara K, Verreault A, Stillman B. The N-terminal domains of histones H3 and H4 are not necessary for chromatin assembly factor-1- mediated nucleosome assembly onto replicated DNA in vitro. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2000 Jul 5;97(14):7766-71.
- Grewal SI, Bonaduce MJ, Klar AJ. *Histone deacetylase homologs regulate* epigenetic inheritance of transcriptional silencing and chromosome segregation in fission yeast. Genetics. 1998 Oct;150(2):563-76.
- 87. Sanematsu F, Takami Y, Barman HK, Fukagawa T, Ono T, Shibahara K, Nakayama T. *Asf1 is required for viability and chromatin assembly during DNA replication in vertebrate cells*. J Biol Chem. 2006 May 12;281(19):13817-27. Epub 2006 Mar 14.
- 88. Sharp JA, Fouts ET, Krawitz DC, Kaufman PD. Yeast histone deposition protein Asf1p requires Hir proteins and PCNA for heterochromatic silencing. Curr Biol.

2001 Apr 3;11(7):463-73.

- Kaplan T, Liu CL, Erkmann JA, Holik J, Grunstein M, Kaufman PD, Friedman N, Rando OJ. Cell cycle- and chaperone-mediated regulation of H3K56ac incorporation in yeast. PLoS Genet. 2008 Nov;4(11):e1000270. Epub 2008 Nov 21.
- 90. Rufiange A, Jacques PE, Bhat W, Robert F, Nourani A. *Genome-wide replicationindependent histone H3 exchange occurs predominantly at promoters and implicates H3 K56 acetylation and Asf1*. Mol Cell. 2007 Aug 3;27(3):393-405.
- 91. Umehara T, Chimura T, Ichikawa N, Horikoshi M. *Polyanionic stretch-deleted histone chaperone cia1/Asf1p is functional both in vivo and in vitro*. Genes Cells. 2002 Jan;7(1):59-73.
- Munakata T, Adachi N, Yokoyama N, Kuzuhara T, Horikoshi M. A human homologue of yeast anti-silencing factor has histone chaperone activity. Genes Cells. 2000 Mar;5(3):221-33.
- Jasencakova Z, Scharf AN, Ask K, Corpet A, Imhof A, Almouzni G, Groth A. Replication Stress Interferes with Histone Recycling and Predeposition Marking of New Histones. Mol Cell. 2010 Mar 12;37(5):736-43.
- 94. Silljé HH, Nigg EA. *Identification of human Asf1 chromatin assembly factors as substrates of Tousled-like kinases*. Curr Biol. 2001 Jul 10;11(13):1068-73.
- Daganzo SM, Erzberger JP, Lam WM, Skordalakes E, Zhang R, Franco AA, Brill SJ, Adams PD, Berger JM, Kaufman PD. *Structure and function of the conserved core of histone deposition protein Asf1*. Curr Biol. 2003 Dec 16;13(24):2148-58.
- 96. Galvani A, Courbeyrette R, Agez M, Ochsenbein F, Mann C, Thuret JY. *In vivo study of the nucleosome assembly functions of ASF1 histone chaperones in human cells*. Mol Cell Biol. 2008 Jun;28(11):3672-85. Epub 2008 Mar 31.
- Tyler JK, Collins KA, Prasad-Sinha J, Amiott E, Bulger M, Harte PJ, Kobayashi R, Kadonaga JT. *Interaction between the Drosophila CAF-1 and ASF1 chromatin assembly factors*. Mol Cell Biol. 2001 Oct;21(19):6574-84.
- Krawitz DC, Kama T, Kaufman PD. Chromatin assembly factor I mutants defective for PCNA binding require Asf1/Hir proteins for silencing. Mol Cell Biol. 2002 Jan;22(2):614-25.
- 99. Sutton A, Bucaria J, Osley MA, Sternglanz R. Yeast ASF1 protein is required for cell cycle regulation of histone gene transcription. Genetics. 2001 Jun;158(2):587-96.
- Nelson DM, Ye X, Hall C, Santos H, Ma T, Kao GD, Yen TJ, Harper JW, Adams PD. Coupling of DNA synthesis and histone synthesis in S phase independent of cyclin/cdk2 activity. Mol Cell Biol. 2002 Nov;22(21):7459-72.
- 101. Emili A, Schieltz DM, Yates JR 3rd, Hartwell LH. Dynamic interaction of DNA damage checkpoint protein Rad53 with chromatin assembly factor Asf1. Mol Cell. 2001 Jan;7(1):13-20.
- 102. Schwartz MF, Lee SJ, Duong JK, Eminaga S, Stern DF. FHA domain-mediated DNA

checkpoint regulation of Rad53. Cell Cycle. 2003 Jul-Aug;2(4):384-96.

- 103. Hu F, Alcasabas AA, Elledge SJ. *Asf1 links Rad53 to control of chromatin assembly*. Genes Dev. 2001 May 1;15(9):1061-6.
- 104. Adkins MW, Howar SR, Tyler JK. Chromatin disassembly mediated by the histone chaperone Asf1 is essential for transcriptional activation of the yeast PHO5 and PHO8 genes. Mol Cell. 2004 Jun 4;14(5):657-66.
- 105. De Koning L, Corpet A, Haber JE, Almouzni G. *Histone chaperones: an escort network regulating histone traffic*. Nat Struct Mol Biol. 2007 Nov 5;14(11):997-1007.
- 106. Natsume R, Eitoku M, Akai Y, Sano N, Horikoshi M, Senda T. Structure and function of the histone chaperone CIA/ASF1 complexed with histones H3 and H4. Nature. 2007 Mar 15;446(7133):338-41. Epub 2007 Feb 11.
- 107. Le S, Davis C, Konopka JB, Sternglanz R. *Two new S-phase-specific genes from Saccharomyces cerevisiae*. Yeast. 1997 Sep 15;13(11):1029-42.
- 108. Singer MS, Kahana A, Wolf AJ, Meisinger LL, Peterson SE, Goggin C, Mahowald M, Gottschling DE. *Identification of high-copy disruptors of telomeric silencing in Saccharomyces cerevisiae*. Genetics. 1998 Oct;150(2):613-32.
- 109. Spellman PT, Sherlock G, Zhang MQ, Iyer VR, Anders K, Eisen MB, Brown PO, Botstein D, Futcher B. Comprehensive identification of cell cycle-regulated genes of the yeast Saccharomyces cerevisiae by microarray hybridization. Mol Biol Cell. 1998 Dec;9(12):3273-97.
- Chimura T, Kuzuhara T, Horikoshi M. *Identification and characterization of CIA/ASF1 as an interactor of bromodomains associated with TFIID*. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2002 Jul 9;99(14):9334-9. Epub 2002 Jul 1.
- Moshkin YM, Armstrong JA, Maeda RK, Tamkun JW, Verrijzer P, Kennison JA, Karch F. *Histone chaperone ASF1 cooperates with the Brahma chromatin-remodelling machinery*. Genes Dev. 2002 Oct 15;16(20):2621-6.
- 112. Sanders SL, Jennings J, Canutescu A, Link AJ, Weil PA. *Proteomics of the eukaryotic transcription machinery: identification of proteins associated with components of yeast TFIID by multidimensional mass spectrometry*. Mol Cell Biol. 2002 Jul;22(13):4723-38.
- 113. Han J, Zhou H, Li Z, Xu RM, Zhang Z. Acetylation of lysine 56 of histone H3 catalyzed by RTT109 and regulated by ASF1 is required for replisome integrity. J Biol Chem. 2007 Sep 28;282(39):28587-96. Epub 2007 Aug 9.
- 114. Recht J, Tsubota T, Tanny JC, Diaz RL, Berger JM, Zhang X, Garcia BA, Shabanowitz J, Burlingame AL, Hunt DF, Kaufman PD, Allis CD. *Histone chaperone Asf1 is required for histone H3 lysine 56 acetylation, a modification associated with S phase in mitosis and meiosis*. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2006 May 2;103(18):6988-93. Epub 2006 Apr 20.
- 115. Li Q, Zhou H, Wurtele H, Davies B, Horazdovsky B, Verreault A, Zhang Z. Acetylation of histone H3 lysine 56 regulates replication-coupled nucleosome
assembly. Cell. 2008 Jul 25;134(2):244-55.

- 116. Tsubota T, Berndsen CE, Erkmann JA, Smith CL, Yang L, Freitas MA, Denu JM, Kaufman PD. *Histone H3-K56 acetylation is catalyzed by histone chaperonedependent complexes*. Mol Cell. 2007 Mar 9;25(5):703-12. Epub 2007 Feb 22.
- 117. Jenuwein T, Allis CD. *Translating the histone code*. Science. 2001 Aug 10;293(5532):1074-80.
- 118. Kouzarides T. *Chromatin modifications and their function*. Cell. 2007 Feb 23;128(4):693-705.
- 119. Strahl BD, Allis CD. *The language of covalent histone modifications*. Nature. 2000 Jan 6;403(6765):41-5.
- 120. Sobel RE, Cook RG, Perry CA, Annunziato AT, Allis CD. Conservation of deposition-related acetylation sites in newly synthesized histones H3 and H4. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 1995 Feb 14;92(4):1237-41.
- Bonner WM, Redon CE, Dickey JS, Nakamura AJ, Sedelnikova OA, Solier S, Pommier Y. *GammaH2AX and cancer*. Nat Rev Cancer. 2008 Dec;8(12):957-67. Epub 2008 Nov 13.
- 122. Grunstein M. *Histone acetylation in chromatin structure and transcription*. Nature. 1997 Sep 25;389(6649):349-52.
- 123. Shahbazian MD, Grunstein M. *Functions of site-specific histone acetylation and deacetylation*. Annu Rev Biochem. 2007;76:75-100.
- 124. Sterner DE, Berger SL. *Acetylation of histones and transcription-related factors*. Microbiol Mol Biol Rev. 2000 Jun;64(2):435-59.
- 125. Xie W, Song C, Young NL, Sperling AS, Xu F, Sridharan R, Conway AE, Garcia BA, Plath K, Clark AT, Grunstein M. *Histone H3 Lysine 56 Acetylation Is Linked to the Core Transcriptional Network in Human Embryonic Stem Cells*. Mol Cell. 2009 Feb 27;33(4):417-27.
- 126. Kuo MH, Brownell JE, Sobel RE, Ranalli TA, Cook RG, Edmondson DG, Roth SY, Allis CD. *Transcription-linked acetylation by Gcn5p of histones H3 and H4 at specific lysines*. Nature. 1996 Sep 19;383(6597):269-72.
- 127. Sklenar AR, Parthun MR. Characterization of yeast histone H3-specific type B histone acetyltransferases identifies an ADA2-independent Gcn5p activity. BMC Biochem. 2004 Jul 26;5:11.
- 128. Ye J, Ai X, Eugeni EE, Zhang L, Carpenter LR, Jelinek MA, Freitas MA, Parthun MR. *Histone H4 lysine 91 acetylation a core domain modification associated with chromatin assembly*. Mol Cell. 2005 Apr 1;18(1):123-30.
- 129. Verreault A, Kaufman PD, Kobayashi R, Stillman B. *Nucleosome assembly by a complex of CAF-1 and acetylated histones H3/H4*. Cell. 1996 Oct 4;87(1):95-104.
- 130. Ling X, Harkness TA, Schultz MC, Fisher-Adams G, Grunstein M. Yeast histone H3

and H4 amino termini are important for nucleosome assembly in vivo and in vitro: redundant and position-independent functions in assembly but not in gene regulation. Genes Dev. 1996 Mar 15;10(6):686-99.

- Ma XJ, Wu J, Altheim BA, Schultz MC, Grunstein M. Deposition-related sites K5/K12 in histone H4 are not required for nucleosome deposition in yeast. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 1998 Jun 9;95(12):6693-8.
- 132. Loyola A, Tagami H, Bonaldi T, Roche D, Quivy JP, Imhof A, Nakatani Y, Dent SY, Almouzni G. *The HP1alpha-CAF1-SetDB1-containing complex provides H3K9me1 for Suv39-mediated K9me3 in pericentric heterochromatin*. EMBO Rep. 2009 Jul;10(7):769-75. Epub 2009 Jun 5.
- 133. Rocha W, Verreault A. Clothing up DNA for all seasons: histone chaperones and nucleosome assembly pathways. FEBS Lett. 2008 Jun 18;582(14):1938-49. Epub 2008 Mar 14.
- Taddei A, Roche D, Sibarita JB, Turner BM, Almouzni G. *Duplication and maintenance of heterochromatin domains*. J Cell Biol. 1999 Dec 13;147(6):1153-66.
- 135. Altheim BA, Schultz MC. *Histone modification governs the cell cycle regulation of a replication-independent chromatin assembly pathway in Saccharomyces cerevisiae*. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 1999 Feb 16;96(4):1345-50.
- 136. Ekwall K, Olsson T, Turner BM, Cranston G, Allshire RC. *Transient inhibition of histone deacetylation alters the structural and functional imprint at fission yeast centromeres*. Cell. 1997 Dec 26;91(7):1021-32.
- 137. Hyland EM, Cosgrove MS, Molina H, Wang D, Pandey A, Cottee RJ, Boeke JD. Insights into the role of histone H3 and histone H4 core modifiable residues in Saccharomyces cerevisiae. Mol Cell Biol. 2005 Nov;25(22):10060-70.
- 138. Ozdemir A, Spicuglia S, Lasonder E, Vermeulen M, Campsteijn C, Stunnenberg HG, Logie C. Characterization of lysine 56 of histone H3 as an acetylation site in Saccharomyces cerevisiae. J Biol Chem. 2005 Jul 15;280(28):25949-52. Epub 2005 May 10.
- 139. Davey CA, Sargent DF, Luger K, Maeder AW, Richmond TJ. Solvent mediated interactions in the structure of the nucleosome core particle at 1.9 a resolution. J Mol Biol. 2002 Jun 21;319(5):1097-113.
- 140. Neumann H, Hancock SM, Buning R, Routh A, Chapman L, Somers J, Owen-Hughes T, van Noort J, Rhodes D, Chin JW. A method for genetically installing site-specific acetylation in recombinant histones defines the effects of H3 K56 acetylation. Mol Cell. 2009 Oct 9;36(1):153-63.
- Watanabe S, Resch M, Lilyestrom W, Clark N, Hansen JC, Peterson C, Luger K. *Structural characterization of H3K56Q nucleosomes and nucleosomal arrays*. Biochim Biophys Acta. 2010 May-Jun;1799(5-6):480-6. Epub 2010 Jan 25.
- 142. Ferreira H, Somers J, Webster R, Flaus A, Owen-Hughes T. *Histone tails and the H3 alphaN helix regulate nucleosome mobility and stability*. Mol Cell Biol. 2007 Jun;27(11):4037-48. Epub 2007 Mar 26.

- 143. Xhemalce B, Miller KM, Driscoll R, Masumoto H, Jackson SP, Kouzarides T, Verreault A, Arcangioli B. *Regulation of histone H3 lysine 56 acetylation in Schizosaccharomyces pombe*. J Biol Chem. 2007 May 18;282(20):15040-7. Epub 2007 Mar 16.
- 144. Garcia BA, Hake SB, Diaz RL, Kauer M, Morris SA, Recht J, Shabanowitz J, Mishra N, Strahl BD, Allis CD, Hunt DF. *Organismal differences in post-translational modifications in histones H3 and H4*. J Biol Chem. 2007 Mar 9;282(10):7641-55. Epub 2006 Dec 28.
- Ozdemir A, Masumoto H, Fitzjohn P, Verreault A, Logie C. *Histone H3 lysine 56 acetylation: a new twist in the chromosome cycle*. Cell Cycle. 2006 Nov;5(22):2602-8. Epub 2006 Nov 15.
- 146. Driscoll R, Hudson A, Jackson SP. Yeast Rtt109 promotes genome stability by acetylating histone H3 on lysine 56. Science. 2007 Feb 2;315(5812):649-52.
- 147. Han J, Zhou H, Horazdovsky B, Zhang K, Xu RM, Zhang Z. *Rtt109 acetylates histone H3 lysine 56 and functions in DNA replication*. Science. 2007 Feb 2;315(5812):653-5.
- Celic I, Masumoto H, Griffith WP, Meluh P, Cotter RJ, Boeke JD, Verreault A. *The* sirtuins hst3 and Hst4p preserve genome integrity by controlling histone h3 lysine 56 deacetylation. Curr Biol. 2006 Jul 11;16(13):1280-9.
- 149. Maas NL, Miller KM, DeFazio LG, Toczyski DP. Cell cycle and checkpoint regulation of histone H3 K56 acetylation by Hst3 and Hst4. Mol Cell. 2006 Jul 7;23(1):109-19.
- 150. English CM, Adkins MW, Carson JJ, Churchill ME, Tyler JK. *Structural basis for the histone chaperone activity of Asf1*. Cell. 2006 Nov 3;127(3):495-508.
- Xu F, Zhang Q, Zhang K, Xie W, Grunstein M. Sir2 deacetylates histone H3 lysine 56 to regulate telomeric heterochromatin structure in yeast. Mol Cell. 2007 Sep 21;27(6):890-900.
- 152. Yang B, Miller A, Kirchmaier AL. HST3/HST4-dependent deacetylation of lysine 56 of histone H3 in silent chromatin. Mol Biol Cell. 2008 Nov;19(11):4993-5005. Epub 2008 Sep 17.
- 153. Simon MD, Chu F, Racki LR, de la Cruz CC, Burlingame AL, Panning B, Narlikar GJ, Shokat KM. *The site-specific installation of methyl-lysine analogs into recombinant histones*. Cell. 2007 Mar 9;128(5):1003-12.
- 154. Downs JA. *Histone H3 K56 acetylation, chromatin assembly, and the DNA damage checkpoint*. DNA Repair (Amst). 2008 Dec 1;7(12):2020-4. Epub 2008 Oct 23.
- 155. Collins SR, Miller KM, Maas NL, Roguev A, Fillingham J, Chu CS, Schuldiner M, Gebbia M, Recht J, Shales M, Ding H, Xu H, Han J, Ingvarsdottir K, Cheng B, Andrews B, Boone C, Berger SL, Hieter P, Zhang Z, Brown GW, Ingles CJ, Emili A, Allis CD, Toczyski DP, Weissman JS, Greenblatt JF, Krogan NJ. *Functional dissection of protein complexes involved in yeast chromosome biology using a genetic interaction map*. Nature. 2007 Apr 12;446(7137):806-10. Epub 2007 Feb 21.

- 156. Endo H, Kawashima S, Sato L, Lai MS, Enomoto T, Seki M, Horikoshi M. Chromatin dynamics mediated by histone modifiers and histone chaperones in postreplicative recombination. Genes Cells. 2010 Sep 1;15(9):945-58. Epub 2010 Aug 16.
- 157. Kristjuhan A, Walker J, Suka N, Grunstein M, Roberts D, Cairns BR, Svejstrup JQ. *Transcriptional inhibition of genes with severe histone H3 hypoacetylation in the coding region*. Mol Cell. 2002 Oct;10(4):925-33.
- 158. Dilworth SM, Black SJ, Laskey RA. *Two complexes that contain histones are required for nucleosome assembly in vitro: role of nucleoplasmin and N1 in Xenopus egg extracts.* Cell. 1987 Dec 24;51(6):1009-18.
- 159. Antczak AJ, Tsubota T, Kaufman PD, Berger JM. Structure of the yeast histone H3-ASF1 interaction: implications for chaperone mechanism, species-specific interactions, and epigenetics. BMC Struct Biol. 2006 Dec 13;6:26.
- Yuan J, Pu M, Zhang Z, Lou Z. *Histone H3-K56 acetylation is important for genomic stability in mammals*. Cell Cycle. 2009 Jun 1;8(11):1747-53. Epub 2009 Jun 3.
- 161. Allis CD, Berger SL, Cote J, Dent S, Jenuwien T, Kouzarides T, Pillus L, Reinberg D, Shi Y, Shiekhattar R, Shilatifard A, Workman J, Zhang Y. *New nomenclature for chromatin-modifying enzymes*. Cell. 2007 Nov 16;131(4):633-6.
- 162. Tang Y, Holbert MA, Wurtele H, Meeth K, Rocha W, Gharib M, Jiang E, Thibault P, Verreault A, Cole PA, Marmorstein R. *Fungal Rtt109 histone acetyltransferase is an unexpected structural homolog of metazoan p300/CBP*. Nat Struct Mol Biol. 2008 Jul;15(7):738-45. Epub 2008 Jun 22.
- Lin C, Yuan YA. Structural insights into histone H3 lysine 56 acetylation by Rtt109. Structure. 2008 Oct 8;16(10):1503-10. Epub 2008 Aug 21.
- 164. Stavropoulos P, Nagy V, Blobel G, Hoelz A. *Molecular basis for the autoregulation of the protein acetyl transferase Rtt109*. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2008 Aug 26;105(34):12236-41. Epub 2008 Aug 21.
- 165. Liu X, Wang L, Zhao K, Thompson PR, Hwang Y, Marmorstein R, Cole PA. *The structural basis of protein acetylation by the p300/CBP transcriptional coactivator*. Nature. 2008 Feb 14;451(7180):846-50.
- 166. Berndsen CE, Albaugh BN, Tan S, Denu JM. *Catalytic mechanism of a MYST family histone acetyltransferase*. Biochemistry. 2007 Jan 23;46(3):623-9.
- 167. Tanner KG, Langer MR, Denu JM. *Kinetic mechanism of human histone acetyltransferase P/CAF*. Biochemistry. 2000 Dec 19;39(50):15652.
- 168. Tanner KG, Langer MR, Kim Y, Denu JM. *Kinetic mechanism of the histone acetyltransferase GCN5 from yeast*. J Biol Chem. 2000 Jul 21;275(29):22048-55.
- 169. Krogan NJ, Cagney G, Yu H, Zhong G, Guo X, Ignatchenko A, Li J, Pu S, Datta N, Tikuisis AP, Punna T, Peregrín-Alvarez JM, Shales M, Zhang X, Davey M, Robinson MD, Paccanaro A, Bray JE, Sheung A, Beattie B, Richards DP, Canadien V, Lalev A, Mena F,

Wong P, Starostine A, Canete MM, Vlasblom J, Wu S, Orsi C, Collins SR, Chandran S, Haw R, Rilstone JJ, Gandi K, Thompson NJ, Musso G, St Onge P, Ghanny S, Lam MH, Butland G, Altaf-UI AM, Kanaya S, Shilatifard A, O'Shea E, Weissman JS, Ingles CJ, Hughes TR, Parkinson J, Gerstein M, Wodak SJ, Emili A, Greenblatt JF. *Global landscape of protein complexes in the yeast Saccharomyces cerevisiae*. Nature. 2006 Mar 30;440(7084):637-43. Epub 2006 Mar 22.

- Albaugh BN, Kolonko EM, Denu JM. *Kinetic Mechanism of the Rtt109–Vps75 Histone Acetyltransferase–Chaperone Complex.* Biochemistry. 2010 Aug 3;49(30):6375-85.
- 171. Berndsen CE, Denu JM. *Catalysis and substrate selection by histone/protein lysine acetyltransferases*. Curr Opin Struct Biol. 2008 Dec;18(6):682-9.
- 172. Schneider J, Bajwa P, Johnson FC, Bhaumik SR, Shilatifard A. *Rtt109 is required for* proper H3K56 acetylation: a chromatin mark associated with the elongating RNA polymerasε
- 173. Pan X, Ye P, Yuan DS, Wang X, Bader JS, Boeke JD. A DNA integrity network in the yeast Saccharomyces cerevisiae. Cell. 2006 Mar 10;124(5):1069-81. Epub 2006 Feb 16.
- 174. Tong AH, Lesage G, Bader GD, Ding H, Xu H, Xin X, Young J, Berriz GF, Brost RL, Chang M, Chen Y, Cheng X, Chua G, Friesen H, Goldberg DS, Haynes J, Humphries C, He G, Hussein S, Ke L, Krogan N, Li Z, Levinson JN, Lu H, Ménard P, Munyana C, Parsons AB, Ryan O, Tonikian R, Roberts T, Sdicu AM, Shapiro J, Sheikh B, Suter B, Wong SL, Zhang LV, Zhu H, Burd CG, Munro S, Sander C, Rine J, Greenblatt J, Peter M, Bretscher A, Bell G, Roth FP, Brown GW, Andrews B, Bussey H, Boone C. *Global mapping of the yeast genetic interaction network*. Science. 2004 Feb 6;303(5659):808-13.
- 175. Imai S, Armstrong CM, Kaeberlein M, Guarente L. Transcriptional silencing and longevity protein Sir2 is an NAD-dependent histone deacetylase. Nature. 2000 Feb 17;403(6771):795-800.
- 176. Landry J, Sutton A, Tafrov ST, Heller RC, Stebbins J, Pillus L, Sternglanz R. *The silencing protein Sir2 and its homologs are NAD-dependent protein deacetylases*. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2000 May 23;97(11):5807-11.
- 177. Smith JS, Brachmann CB, Celic I, Kenna MA, Muhammad S, Starai VJ, Avalos JL, Escalante-Semerena JC, Grubmeyer C, Wolberger C, Boeke JD. *A phylogenetically conserved NAD+-dependent protein deacetylase activity in the Sir2 protein family*. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2000 Jun 6;97(12):6658-63.
- 178. Suka N, Suka Y, Carmen AA, Wu J, Grunstein M. *Highly specific antibodies determine histone acetylation site usage in yeast heterochromatin and euchromatin*. Mol Cell. 2001 Aug;8(2):473-9.
- 179. Borra MT, Langer MR, Slama JT, Denu JM. *Substrate specificity and kinetic mechanism of the Sir2 family of NAD+-dependent histone/protein deactylases*. Biochemistry. 2004 Aug 3;43(30):9877-87.
- 180. Brachmann CB, Sherman JM, Devine SE, Cameron EE, Pillus L, Boeke JD. *The SIR2* gene family, conserved from bacteria to humans, functions in silencing, cell cycle

progression, and chromosome stability. Genes Dev. 1995 Dec 1;9(23):2888-902.

- 181. Perry CA, Annunziato AT. Influence of histone acetylation on the solubility, H1 content and DNase I sensitivity of newly assembled chromatin. Nucleic Acids Res. 1989 Jun 12;17(11):4275-91.
- 182. Annunziato AT, Schindler RK, Thomas CA Jr, Seale RL. Dual nature of newly replicated chromatin. Evidence for nucleosomal and non-nucleosomal DNA at the site of native replication forks. J Biol Chem. 1981 Nov 25;256(22):11880-6.